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Vision
Construction industry leader and preferred solution provider in 
Jordan creating value for customers and stakeholders.

Mission
Preferred construction solution provider with customers’ 
excellence, embedded health & safety culture, never losing 
sight of environmental sustainability, focusing on being an 
employer of choice and building a dynamic organization 
maximizing returns to all stakeholders.

afarge Cement Jordan is one of the largest and oldest 
industrial companies in Jordan, founded in 1951 as a public 
shareholding company.

The company has two plants, one in Fuhais and one in 
Rashadeya.
Production capacity is (4) million tons.

In 1998, Lafarge Group entered the Jordanian market
by acquiring shares in Jordan Cement Factories Company. 
The Group currently owns 50.3%.

L
2019 Company Brief



Customers
Customer centric
Easy to deal with
Keep promises
Provide solutions

Results
Timely Decision Making
Out of the Box Solutions
Optimization
Respecting Deadlines
Accuracy
Business Acumen

Integrity
Transparency
Confidentiality
Openness & Honesty
Fairness
Compliance
Diligence
	
Sustainability
Consistency
Creativity & Innovation
Preserve Environment for Future Generations
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People
Health & Safety behavior
Engagement
Empowerment & Delegation
Lead by Example
Professionalism & Excellence
Uncompromising
Loyalty
Team Work
Trust
Considerate
Confidentiality
Ownership
Dedication
Proactive Communication
Courage
Constructive feedback
Diversity & Inclusion
People Development
Objectivity
Flexibility & Speed
Diligence
Performance Culture
Business Partnering
Openness & Transparency
Responsibility & Accountability
Care
Discipline & Commitment
Positive Attitude
Persistence & Perseverance

Values



HIS MAJESTY KING ABDULLAH II BIN AL HUSSEIN
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Dear Shareholders,
After Greetings:

One of the main indicators for measuring growth and 
prosperity in any country, especially if it is emerging, is 
the quantities of its strategic consumption of cement. 
With the increase in reconstruction and construction, the 
demand for cement as a basic material for construction 
increases, and as a productive material used in the 
manufacture of many construction products such as 
tiles, ceramics, bricks, concrete …etc.

In recent years, Jordan has gone through an economic 
slowdown due to the crises that have hit the Arab world 
in succession, which disturbed the investment climate, 
changed the structure of public spending priorities, and 
confused the future vision of investors.

Our region has witnessed wars, especially since the Arab 
Spring, decline in investment growth, a clear calm in the 
construction and building movement, and an increase in 
competition in the cement sector inside and outside Jordan. 
In order to improve the financial position of the company, 
the company spared no efforts. It responded and reached 
a solution with former workers, many of whom work in the 
Company's factories in the city of Fuheis, which have been 
closed for several years. The Company also exerted great 
efforts within the legal framework to reduce the claims 
against the Company for environmental compensation by 
residents in and around Fuheis. The Company cut down 
administrative and operational expenses as these and 
other measures contributed to reducing spending, and 
rescheduled some of its debts with creditors. But Covid-19 
dictated a negative economic reality that led to coexist with 
its unforeseen catastrophic effects.

Given all these circumstances, the board of directors, 
after extensive legal and financial studies, was forced 
to seek a judicial decision to put the Company 
under insolvency instead of liquidation, because the 
decision would give the Company an opportunity to 
restructure itself and make financial and administrative 
arrangements that would help in rationalizing its 
spending, organizing its production and benefiting 
from its movable and immovable balances and assets 
(especially Fuheis lands) in order to remain a productive 
and operating company, and improve its profitability 
opportunities, and raise its shares prices.

This would not have been possible without the concerted 
efforts of all stakeholders. This made your Company 
the first company to be subject to the insolvency law 
and regulations issued thereunder. This success is 
a challenge for all stakeholders because it will be the 
experience that everyone will learn from.

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to the government, 
represented by the Ministry of Industry and Trade, the 

Chairman
Jawad Anani 

Ministry of Labor, the Ministry of Local Administration, 
the Ministry of Environment, the Energy and Minerals 
Regulatory Commission, the Securities Commission and 
Amman Stock Exchange, as well as the appreciation to 
Lafarge Holcim’s Board of Directors for the financial and 
logistical support provided to the Company.

I would like to especially thank the mayor of Fuheis 
Municipality, the members of the municipal council, and 
the people of the city who contributed to the praiseworthy 
efforts in seeking to reach a solution that enables the 
Company to benefit from its lands in the city of Fuheis 
in order to achieve the maximum possible benefit for the 
Company and be a beneficial project for the people of 
the city and the Jordanian economy, and raise the public 
level of the economic and social activity in the city.

It goes without question that the Company's 
Management, starting with its CEO, his colleagues in 
the Management and the factories workers, have made 
every effort to restore this large industrial edifice to 
the path that we are accustomed to, and continues to 
supply Jordan and the foreign markets with high-quality 
construction solutions.

I also thank all shareholders for all their cooperation and 
understanding of the Company's conditions, promising 
them to do everything we can to preserve the Company 
in order to regain its glory and supremacy.

May God protect Jordan under its Hashemite leadership 
and His Majesty King Abdullah II Ibn Al Hussein.

Peace and Allah's mercy and blessings be upon you.
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Second: the environment
The Company operated a solar energy project, which contributes 
to reducing carbon dioxide emissions by about (20) thousand 
tons annually, and has continued to improve environmental 
performance through diligent search for alternative fuel sources, 
monitoring emissions at their sites, and adhering to all local 
and international environment standards and indicators. The 
Company also continued its cooperation with the public and 
private sectors to assist in the safe disposal of some materials 
and to carry out many destruction operations in Rashadiya plant 
furnaces under the supervision of the competent authorities.

Third: Commercial transformation
The Company continued to develop the quality of services 
provided to its customers and to develop the performance of 
its team to provide the best services and solutions to maintain 
customer confidence and loyalty and to provide technical 
support to them in all areas. The Company was also able to 
achieve excellence in customer service by launching an 
"electronic payment" service, allowing its customers to easily 
pay their bills, as Lafarge Cement Jordan was the first cement 
company to provide this service to its customers.

Fourth: Human resources development
As for developing the efficiency of our human resources, many 
training programs were implemented through the training and 
development plan drawn up by the Company for the year 2019, 
which included a large segment of the Company's employees 
at various job levels. It mainly focused on enhancing employee 
skills and developing a performance culture.

Fifth: Costs reduction
Several measures were taken to reduce costs by controlling 
operational, administrative and general expenses in order 
to improve the financial position of the Company, including 
generation of electricity from solar energy in Rashadiya plant, 
downsizing the number of employees in addition to providing 
alternatives to traditional fuels to reduce production costs.

CEO Speech 
Ladies and gentlemen, the esteemed shareholders 
of Lafarge Jordan Cement Company

During the year 2019, the Company was able to fulfill a large 
part of its priorities, which resulted in achieving a total gross 
profit of (727) thousand Jordanian dinars, compared with a total  
gross loss of (9.9) million dinars in 2018 due to the improvement 
in cement prices in the local market after it witnessed a severe 
decline during the first half of 2018, the decrease in operating 
costs, despite the slowdown in construction activity and weak 
demand in the local market.

Despite the difficulties facing the Company and the accumulated 
losses over the past years, the Company's Management continued 
to implement its programs and plans in 2019 to reduce fixed and 
variable expenses through many achievements and initiatives, 
the most important of which was the operation of the solar energy 
project in October 2019 which will provide 40% of the electrical 
energy needed to operate Rashadiya plant and reduce carbon 
dioxide emissions by about 20 thousand tons annually.

Despite all exerted efforts, the very high health insurance costs 
still constitute a burden on fixed costs and future liabilities and 
a major challenge for the Company. The costs of downsizing the 
number of employees, including health insurance costs and the 
provisions for the impairment of the Company's assets led to the 
declared loss of the Company compared to the last year. The 
Company’s results showed a net loss of (65.1) million dinars for 
the year 2019, compared to a net loss of (34.6) million dinars 
for the year 2018.

The excess employment in the Company was one of the most 
important challenges over the past years, but the agreement 
concluded with the General Trade Union of Constructions 
Workers contributed to reducing the number of employees in the 
Company in order to reach the optimal number of employees to 
ensure the continuity of the Company's business with the lowest 
costs and the most efficient human resources.

As for environmental issues that have burdened the Company 
over years, some cases are still pending before the Jordanian 
judiciary, although the Fuheis factory has stopped producing 
clinker since the beginning of 2013 and all grinding and packing 
operations have stopped since mid-2016, and the environment 
cases compensation decreased in 2019 by (10) million dinars.

Regarding the translation of the Company's priorities for the year 
2019 into reality, this was done through the implementation of 
many programs and initiatives, which are summarized as 
follows:

First: Health and safety
The Company continued to focus on health and safety which is 
the comprehensive value that governs all of its business. During 
the year 2019, many plans and programs were implemented 
to enhance awareness among employees of the importance of 
safe behaviors in all work sites, and to raise the efficiency of 
performance in relation to the activation of various public safety 
procedures and rules in order to realize the Company's vision, 
which is "zero harm" in all sites.
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Sixth: Sustainable development
Despite its limited financial resources and the difficult 
financial situation that the Company is going through, it 
was able in 2019 to implement and finance a number of 
projects it had committed to in previous years, in addition to 
providing technical support in terms of machines and staff 
in all circumstances to municipalities and local community 
organization, reflecting its positive role in the sustainable 
development of the surrounding communities.

Distinguished ladies and gentlemen,
The Company’s Management worked determinedly to 
overcome the many challenges and difficult circumstances 
the Company is going through to get out of the financial 
hardship which exacerbated over the past years by 
developing and implementing strategies and plans to ensure 
the continuity and sustainability of the Company's work. 
However, the accumulation of financial obligations and the 
lack of cash liquidity for the Company made it unable to 
fulfill all its obligations, which forced the board of directors 
of the Company to take a decision to submit a request to 
declare the insolvency of the Company in order to avoid its 
liquidation in an attempt to rebuild the Company by reducing 
its obligations and making the best use of its assets in pursuit 
of the sustainability of its business through reorganization 
plan according to the requirements of the insolvency law.

Finally, allow me to extend my sincere thanks to everyone 
who contributed to the support and Company's Management 
in its march, especially the honorable board of directors. I 
would also like to thank the Company’s dear employees 
and your presence for your continued confidence in the 
Company's Management and its support in the next phase to 
achieve its goals, which are to achieve sustainability for this 
national industrial edifice that we are always proud of.

Future priorities

Dear Shareholders,

The Company’s Management will continue the 
implementation of future programs and plans in an effort 
to reorganize the Company administratively, operationally 
and financially, based on priorities in order to advance this 
national edifice and sustain the Company's business to 
maintain its positive and effective contribution in the various 
aspects of its activities.

Our 2020 priorities focus on the following:

Health and Safety: Continuing the health and safety march, the 
approach adopted by the Company in performing all its work 
to ensure the safety of its employees, contractors, carriers and 
all distibuters without exception. The 2020 priorities include 
promoting a culture of health and safety and activating the 
role of leadership in procedures, the most important of which 
are: road safety, risk assessment, health and safety system 
in contractor management, the safe matching of design and 
quality of buildings and metal structures and work at height 
procedure.

Environment: The Company will continue its efforts in 
promoting the principle of environmental self-control to 
ensure its commitment to preserving environmental elements 
in compliance with environmental laws and regulations. It will 
also continue to work on rationalizing energy consumption 
and reducing carbon dioxide emissions by optimal use of the 
solar energy project in Rashadiya plant, and exert every effort 
to provide sustainable sources of alternative fuels.

Commercial transformation: The Company's focus on 
its customers is one of the priorities that it will continue to 
work on in 2020 by continuous improvement of the services 
provided to its customers, and providing the best innovative 
building solutions to meet their needs and help them face 
challenges during the construction process, in order to 
achieve the Company's vision to be the provider of choice for 
construction solutions in Jordan.

Cost reduction: The Company will keep taking all possible 
measures to reduce costs. It will also implement programs 
and plans to ensure raising production efficiency and 
reducing maintenance and energy costs through the 
renewable energy project.

Development of human resources: Create a positive 
climate that supports performance culture, competencies 
development, performance improvement, and creating a 
regulatory ground for activating "consequences management" 
aiming to implement the optimal organizational structure.

Cash liquidity: Cash liquidity is of the most important and 
biggest challenges facing the Company. Therefore, the 
Company will implement the procedures required to provide 
cash liquidity in the Company and study the restructuring of 
the Company’s capital to correct its financial position within 
the Company’s reorganization plan in addition to its constant 
endeavor to make the best use of the value of its assets.

The Company will also strive to reach an optimal solution 
to develop the Fuheis factory lands in the interest of the 
Company and the prosperity of the surrounding local 
communities.

Sustainable development: Keep developing the good and 
positive relations with our partners in local communities by 
providing all possible technical and material support.

The Company's Management will keep exerting all possible 
efforts to overcome the multiple obstacles in pursuit of the 
steadfastness of the Company. We always wish success from 
God and seek the permanent and effective support from 
our esteemed shareholders to advance this well-established 
national edifice.

Country Chief Execvutive Officer
Samaan Kamel Samaan
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Jawad Ahmed Abdul Mouhsen Anani
•	Chairman of the Board of Directors and LafargeHolcim representative as of 30/4/2019.

•	Member of the Board as of 29/3/2018 until 30/4/2019.

•	Appointed as State Minister for Prime Ministry Affairs, Minister of Communications and Information 

Technology, Deputy Prime Minister for Social Development Affairs, Foreign Minister, Deputy Prime 

Minister for Economic Affairs, State Minister for Investment Affairs, Minister of Labor, Minister of 

Industry, Trade and Supply and Minister of Tourism.

•	Held high positions in the Government as General Manager of Social Security Corporation, President 

of the Royal Scientific Society.

•	Started his career path working as a Head of Economic Research at the Central Bank of Jordan. 

He was also Chief of the Royal Hashemite Court, member of the Senate for more than one period. 

Appointed as Chairman of Jordan Economic and Social Council.

•	He was a lecturer in a number of Jordanian, Arab and American Universities, and has more than 

seventy scientific researches and number of books and chaired the boards of many public institutions.

Members of Board of Directors

Grant Earnshaw 

Dureid Mahasneh

Omar Bdair Ali SaidSamaan Samaan

Amr Reda

Rachid BenyakhlefYaser Akroush

Shehadeh Abu-Hudaib

Saoud Nsairat

Hussein Al-Saoub Fawzi Al-Hyasat

Jawad Anani
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Grant Earnshow
•	Deputy Chairman of the Board and LafargeHolcim representative as of 30/4/2019.

•	Chairman of the Board of Directors and LafargeHolcim representative as of 23/1/2017 until 30/4/2019.

•	Holder of Postgraduate Diploma in Business Administration and Building & Civil Engineering degree 

from UK.

•	Appointed as Area Manager Middle East and North Africa in 2016.

•	Appointed as Senior VP & Head of Integration for LafargeHolcim from 2014 until 2016.

•	Chief Executive Officer - Lafarge Iraq from 2012 to 2014.

•	Joined Lafarge Group in 1999 and held senior positions.

Samaan Kamel Yacoub Samaan
•	Member of the Board as of 13/7/2017. 

•	Member/representative of Arab Concrete Supply Company until 4/7/2017.

•	Appointed as Lafarge Cement Jordan GM and Country CEO as of 13/12/2018.

•	General Manager for Lafarge Concrete Jordan until 5/1/2019.

•	Country Finance, Control and IT VP until 1/9/2014.

•	Joined Lafarge in 2005 and held several positions in Jordan.

•	Holder of BA Degree in Accounting from University of Jordan.

•	Certified Public Accountant (CPA) from USA and member of Jordanian Association of Certified 

Accountants (JACPA).

Omar "Mohammed Ali" Othman Bdair
•	Member of the Board and representative of the private sector as of 8/2/2006.

•	Holder of MA degree in Civil Engineering from USA.

•	Worked as Chairman of Arabian Technical Construction Co. and Jordan Cement Company.

•	Member of the Board of Directors at a number of Jordanian companies and organizations.

Ali Said 
•	Member of the Board and LafargeHolcim representative as of 18/4/2019. 

•	General Manager of Lafarge Concrete Jordan as of 05/1/2019.

•	Joined Lafarge North America in 2000, then he was appointed as General Manager of Lafarge Iraq 

in 2015 .

•	Holder of BA Degree in Commerce (B. Com.) from Mcgill University, and a Masters Degree in Business 

Administration from the University of Montreal – Canada.

•	Certified (CPA) & (CMA).
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Hussein Abdulkarim Falah Al-Saoub 
• Member of the Board of Directors since 30/10/2019.
•	Holds a PhD. in Transport Technology from the Arab Academy for Science, Technology and Maritime 

Transport - Egypt.
• Holds a Master Degree in Multimodal Transport Management, World Maritime University, Sweden.
• Higher Diploma in Maritime Port Management from Transport Academy, Netherlands.
• Minister of Transport from 2016 to 2017.
• Chairman of the Board of Directors of Arab Bridge Maritime Company between 2018 to 2019.
• General Manager of the Jordanian Company for Maritime Agencies between 2000 to 2004.
• General Manager of Arab Bridge Maritime Company between 2010 to 2016.
• Deputy General Manager of Arab Bridge Maritime Company between 2004-2010.
• Acting General Manager / Deputy General Manager of Jordan National Airlines between 1987 to 2000.
• Member of the Multimodal Transport Union in Geneva.
• Member of the Legal Association of Transport in UK.
• Member of the Jordanian Academy for Maritime Studies.
• Member of the International Affairs Association.
• Winner of the International Socrates Award, the award for the best Manager of a marine company in the 

Arab world, the platinum technology award for quality, the best brand name and other personal awards.

Dureid Mohammed Abdulhameed Mahasneh 
•	Member of the Board of Directors Since 30/10/2019.
•	PhD. in Hydrology and Marine Sciences.
•	Assistant Professor at Yarmouk University: 1980-1984.
•	Director General of the Marine Science Station in Aqaba: 1983-1984.
•	Secretary General of Aqaba Region Authority: 1984-1991.
•	Director General of Aqaba Ports Corporation: 1991-1996.
•	Secretary general of the Jordan Valley Authority: 1996-1999.
•	Consultant: 2000-2005.
•	CEO of Tawfiq Gargour Shipping Co.: 2005.
•	GM of Tawfiq Gargour Group: 2010.
•	Chirman of the Board of Directors of EDAMA Association for Energy, Water & Environment as of 2017.
•	Chairman of the Board of Directors of Jordan Shipping Association as of 2019.
•	Board Member of the following: National Insurance Company, Al Al-Bayt University, Hamdi Mango 

Research Centre, Strategic Studies Centre - University of Jordan, Scientific Research Council – 
German Jordanian University, Jordan Shipping Association, National Maritime Authority, T.Gargour 
Mercedes Jordan, T.Gargour Mercedes PNA, Arab Potash Co.

Fawzi Abdullah Al-Hyasat
•	Member of the Board and representative of Rama for Investments Savings Co. as of 1/5/2017.
•	Director and General Manager of Salt and North Amman Branches of Social Security Corporation 

from 1995 until 2011.
•	Held several positions in Social Security Corporation since 1987.
•	Representative of the Social Security Corporation in many board committees.
•	Chairman and member of several committees in Social Security Corporation.
•	Holder of Bachelor degree in Management Science from Yarmouk University.
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Shehadeh Abdullah Abu-Hudaib 
•	Member of the Board and representative of Social Security Corporation since 10/4/2019.

•	Holds a bachelor's degree in Civil Engineering and Cities Planning / Texas A&M University.

•	Served as Minister of Local Administration between 2008-2009.

•	Member of the Sixteenth Senate Council.

•	Chairman of the Board of Directors of Ma'an Development Company.

•	Chairman of the Board of Directors of Jordan Heritage Revival Company.

•	Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Arab Scientist Company.

•	Vice-Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the Middle East University.

•	Vice-Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the Hashemite Fund for Development of Jordan Badia.

•	Member of the Board of Directors of Mafraq Development Zone Authority.

•	General Director of the Housing and Urban Development Corporation 2005-2007.

•	Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Petra Authority 2000-2004.

•	Director General of the Petra Region Authority, 2000-2007. 

•	Assistant of Secretary of Greater Amman for Planning between 1996-1999.

•	Head of Tenders Department at the Greater Amman Municipality 1993-1996.

•	Member of the Board of Directors of NutriDar.

•	Earned the first degree Independence Medal in 2017.

Amr Ali Reda
•	Member of the Board and LafargeHolcim representative as of 30/7/2015 until 18/4/2019.
•	In 2015 he was appointed as Country CEO for Lafarge Jordan until 12/12/2018.
•	Holder of Bachelor degrees in Accounting from Cairo University and in Business Administration from 

the American University in Cairo as well as an MBA from the American University in Cairo.
•	Started his career in 1990 at the Arab Bank in Egypt, and then became Finance Manager at 3M and 

Chief Financial Officer and General Controller at Heineken Egypt.
•	Joined Lafarge as Chief Financial Officer in Pakistan in 2006 then Regional Business Controller for 

the Middle East and Pakistan. In 2012 he was appointed as CEO for Lafarge Pakistan.

Yaser Aqel Akroush
•	Member of the Board and representative of Social Security Corporation as of 1/5/2017 until 10/4/2019.

•	Adviser to the Secretary General of Insurance Affairs and member of the Settlement Committee at 

the Social Security Corporation.

•	Held several positions in Social Security Corporation since 1990.

•	Representative and General Manager of Jordan Tanning Co.

•	Member of Board of Directors in many Jordanian companies and organizations.

•	Holder of Bachelor degree in Political Economy and Planning from Damascus University and 

Postgraduate Diploma in Philosophy from University of Jordan.
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Rachid Benyakhlef
•	Deputy Chairman of the Board and LafargeHolcim representative as of 25/7/2018 until 30/4/2019.

•	Started his career in Morocco in 1983 in the mining field where he gradually got high managerial 

positions including president of several industrial companies within the largest industrial and 

financial group.

•	Joined Lafarge in 2004 where he held number of positions including CEO of Jordan, CEO of Lafarge 

Ciments France and CEO of Iraq as well as some key functional positions.

•	He is currently Head of Growth and Performance within (MEA) Middle East and Africa Region in 

LafargeHolcim.

•	He holds a PHd in Mining Engineering and graduated in Engineering from Polytechnique School in 

Paris and from Mining School of Paris.

Saoud Ahmed Nsairat
•	Member of the Board as of 29/3/2018 until 3/7/2019.

•	Air Force Commander in Royal Jordanian Air Force from 1999 to 2002.

•	Vice Chairman for the Joints Chief of Staff in Royal Jordanian Army from 2002 to 2004.

•	Minister of Transport from 2004 to 2007.

•	Chairman of the Board in various Jordanian authorities and companies.

•	Holder of Master’s Degree in Political Science from Mutah University.

•	Holder of different Air Force certificates.
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Organizational Chart of the Company’s Executive Committee

Country Chief Executive Officer

Samaan Samaan

Country Commercial 
Director

Rachid Yousry

GM Readymix Jordan

Ali Said

Country Human 
Resources Vice 

President

Luma Al-Abdallat

Country Chief 
Financial Officer 

Ahmad Awartani
****

Acting Industrial 
Director & Rashadeya 

Plant Manager

Mustafa AlWishah
******

Organization Structure for the Subsidiary Company
(Lafarge Concrete Jordan)

GM Readymix Jordan

Ali Said

Finance Manager

Mohammad Mishal

North & East Area Manager

Bashar Alawneh

Sales & Key Accounts & Central 
Jordan Area Manager
Sameer Aloul

South Area Manager, Marketing & 
Sales Support

Karim Aloul

Quality Manager

Ibrahim Khawaldeh

HR & Administration Manager

Tareq Khanji

Health, Safety & Environment

Ghassan Qunash

Maintenance Manager

Ahmad Qattan

Supply Chain Manager

Vacant

*	 End of service date for Mr. Alaa Abu Ameereh - Country Chief Financial Officer – was on 13/03/2019.
**	 Mr. Ahmed Khalifa was appointed as Country Chief Financial Officer during the period from 14/03/2019 to 23/04/2019.
***	 The position of Country Chief Financial Officer was vacant during the period from 24/04/2019 to 31/08/2019.
****	 Mr. Ahmad Awartani joined Lafarge Jordan as Country Chief Financial Officer as of 01/09/2019.
*****	 End of service date for Mr. Abdelfattah Al Muhtaseb - Industrial Director & Rashadeya Plant Manager – was on 

23/10/2019.
******	Mr. Mustafa Al Wishah – Projects Director - was assigned as Acting Industrial Director & Rashadeya Plant Manager as of 

28/10/2019.
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Executive Committee 
Samaan Kamel Yacoub Samaan
•	Member of the Board as of 13/7/2017. 

•	Member/representative of Arabian Concrete Supply Company until 4/7/2017.

•	Appointed as Lafarge Cement Jordan GM and Country CEO for Lafarge Jordan as of 13/12/2018.

•	General Manager for Lafarge Concrete Jordan until 5/1/2019.

•	Country Finance, Control and IT VP until 1/9/2014.

•	Joined Lafarge in 2005 and held several positions in Jordan.

•	Holder of BA Degree in Accounting from University of Jordan.

•	Certified Public Accountant (CPA) from USA and member of Jordanian Association of Certified 

Accountants (JACPA).

Luma Ahmed Ibrahim Al-Abdallat
•	Country Human Resources Vice President.

•	Held several positions in the field of management consulting and organizational development and 

human resources consulting in Jordan.

•	Joined Lafarge in 2006 and held several positions in Human Resources Management in Jordan.

•	Holder of Bachelor degree in Industrial Engineering, and Masters in International Human Resources 

Management.

Mustafa Abdullatif Mustafa Al Wishah
•	Acting Industrial Director & Rashadeya Plant Manager starting from 28/10/2019.

•	Projects Director starting from 1/5/2017.

•	Worked as Executive Director for Purchasing & Logistics Starting from 1/8/2014 till 30/4/2017.

•	Worked as Projects Manager in Lafarge Technical Centers in Austria, Egypt and France.  Managed 

projects in many countries of Middle-East & Africa.

•	Worked as Karbala Plant Manager – Lafarge Iraq till 1/6/2013.

•	Joined the company in 1994.  Held several positions in maintenance and projects management in 

different locations at the company. 

•	Holds a rank of Consultant Mechanical Engineer - Jordan Engineering Association. 

•	Associated member – Chartered Institute of Arbitrators – UK.

•	Holder of Bachelor degree in Mechanical Engineering from Jordan University of Science & Technology.

Ali Said 
•	Member of the Board and Lafarge Holcim representative as of 18/04/2019.

•	General Manager of Lafarge Concrete Jordan as of 05/01/2019.

•	Joined Lafarge North America in 2000, then he was appointed as General Manager of Lafarge Iraq 

in 2015 .

•	Holder of BA Degree in Commerce (B. Com.) from Mcgill University, and a Masters Degree in Business 

Administration from the University of Montreal – Canada.

•	Certified (CPA) & (CMA).
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Ahmad Belal Abdulrahim Awartani  
•	Chief Financial Officer for Lafarge Cement Jordan since Sept 1 st, 2019. 

•	Chief Financial Officer for Al-Khalidi Hospital & Medical Center (KHMC) since Feb, 2013 till Aug, 2019.

•	Chief Financial Officer for International Cards Company / Master Card Jordan from Aug, 2007 till Feb, 2013.

•	Group (Corporate) Financial Reporting Supervisor at Hikma Pharmaceuticals Group from April, 2005 

till Aug, 2007.

•	Senior Financial External Auditor at Deloitte ME- Amman from June,2001 till April, 2005.

•	Co – Founder and BOD Member at Jordan Association of Management Accountants (JAMA) since 

2010.

•	Professional lead instructor for professional accounting certificates (CPA /CMA/CIA) since 2008.

•	Volunteer Instructor at INJAZ from 2012 till 2014.

•	Active Member at Institute of Management Accountants (IMA) since May, 2004 till now.

•	Active member at Institute Internal Auditors (IIA) since July, 2013 till now.

•	Hold BA degree in Accounting from Jordan University 2001.

•	Certified Management Accountant (CMA) since Feb, 2007.

•	Certified Financial Manager CFM since June, 2007.

•	Certified Internal Auditor (CIA) since Oct, 2012.

•	Global Leadership Institute, Innovative Leadership Certificate Program – Boston College 2014 .

Rachid Yousry
•	County Commercial Director of Lafarge Jordan as of 15/1/2018.

•	Joined LafargeHolcim Group in 2011 and held several positions, such as: Head of Logistics Middle 

East and Africa.

•	Holder of Master degree in Business Administration from ENPC University in Morocco, and Bachelor 

degree in Computer Systems Analysis Engineering from INSEA University in Morocco.

•	Holds many professional certificates and administrative training programs.

Ala’a Abdul Hamid Abdul Rahman Abu Ameereh
•	Country Chief Financial Officer until 13/3/2019.

•	Started his professional career in 1994 and held diversified positions in Finance and Auditing.

•	Joined Lafarge Group in 2006 and held several positions in Finance in Jordan.

•	Holder of Bachelor degree in Accounting & Economics from Jordan University in 1994.

Abdel-Fattah "Muhamad Amen" Al-Muhtaseb
•	Industrial Director from 23/4/2019 till 23/10/2019 .

•	Rashadeya Plant Manager as of 2016 until 23/10/2019.

•	Worked as Fuhais Plant Manager during 2018.

•	Held several positions in Project Management and Electrical Maintenance fields.

•	Started his professional career at Lafarge Jordan as Electrical Engineer at Fuheis plant in 1997.

•	Holder of Bachelor degree in Electromechanical Engineering from Al-Balqa’ Applied University in 1996.



2019      ANNUAL REPORT      LAFARGE CEMENT JORDAN      PAGE  17 

COMPANY ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2019

2

Lafarge Cement Jordan was able to fulfill many priorities despite the 
challenging conditions experienced during 2019, detailed as follows:

Health & Safety
•	Distinguished efforts were done to execute objectives of the Strategic Health & Safety Improvement 

Plan during 2019:
-	Focus on “Health & Safety Leadership” through continuous meetings with Employees to discuss 
openly Health & Safety issues, and designing a Self Assessment questionnaire for Managers to 
assess their Health & Safety Performance. 

-	Continuous implementation of the Health program through conducting continuous medical 
examinations for all employees and contractors, and implementing a Health audit for different sites.

-	Road safety procedure: a computerized system has been implemented to monitor drivers’ performance 
to continue improving Drivers’ driving style and ensure their compliance to instructions.

-	Review safety procedures for Belt Conveyors & Rotating Equipments to ensure that they are included 
in appropriate mechanical and electrical protection systems.

•	Cultural Survey (Related to Behavior) was conducted, as Positive Attitude is crucial in development of 
behavior and culture of health and safety among workers.

•	Work continued to encourage Reporting of Incidents and unsafe situations, due to the importance of 
reporting in improving the level of health and safety in the work environment.

•	A comprehensive and detailed review was conducted for Health & Safety procedures applied in the 
Company to increase awareness of the importance of applying Health & Safety procedures by workers 
at Company’s sites and the participation of their colleagues by following them up and instructing them.

•	A comprehensive and detailed analysis of Health & Safety results and data for 2019 was conducted 
within a workshop for the Company’s Management Team during which the Strategic Plan for Improving 
Health & Safety for 2020 was laid out, as it shows the need to continue development and improvement 
in some of 2019 goals to complete what has been started in relation to the following areas:
-	Road Safety Procedures.
-	Health Program.
-	Health & Safety Leadership.

•	New Priorities were set for 2020:
-	Contractors Safety Management.
-	Comprehensive review of applied Health & Safety Standards.
-	Design Safety & Construction Quality Program (DSCQP).
-	Comprehensive review of Working at Height Procedure at Rashadeya Plant.

Environment
•	The company confirms its commitment to preserving the environmental elements, conforming to 

environmental laws and legislations, and applying the continuous improvement of the environmental 
performance of its various activities.

•	The company conducted the Environmental Impact Assessment studies for dismantling the first and 
second production lines in Fuhais plant to ensure the implementation of the necessary environmental 
mitigation measures during the dismantling of the production lines.

•	The company continued to implement environmental control programs to follow up the implementation 
of the highest operational standards, through oversight of the emissions of the various factory chimneys, 
which indicate low levels of these emissions and their compatibility with local environmental requirements 
and legislation, but rather with the most stringent global specifications.
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•	Implementation of the control program on the surrounding air, by means of a continuous measurement 
of the level of dust in various locations in the vicinity of Rashadeya plant through a monitoring program 
implemented by a team from Al Balqa Applied University and with direct supervision by the Ministry of 
Environment.

•	The company also finished installing and operating the Solar Power plant of a capacity of 15.6-megawatt 
to reduce electricity consumption from the national grid and reduce carbon dioxide emissions.

Industrial Performance
•	Starting the commercial operation for Solar photovoltaic plant in October 2019, which will supply plant 

with 40% of the annual electricity need for Rashadeya plant. This project will reduce CO2 emission by 
20,000 ton/ year.

•	Continued improvement in the industrial performance for Rashadeya plant in 2019.
•	Rashadeya plant continues to produce many cement types with high quality to satisfy market and customers.
•	Fuhais plant clinker production lines stopped since 2013, also the cement grinding and packing 

operations stopped since 2016. 

Sales and Marketing
•	Construction market witnessed a sharp drop in 2019 compared to 2018, especially in the Residential sector, 

which represents more than 70% of the construction market, where issued building licenses and licensed 
building area decreased by 31% and 36%, respectively (according to the Department of Statistics).

•	Cement market decreased by 27% (or 1.2 million tons) compared to 2018.
•	Lafarge Cement Jordan was able to increase its market share and maintain its distribution through its main 

customers with a focus on the primary markets, despite the significant drop at the Jordanian market as a 
result of the sharp decline in demand for cement, which contributed to reducing the severity of this decline 
and reducing its financial impact on the Company.

•	Continuous development in the quality of services provided to Company’s clients and strengthening its 
presence in the market through extensive visit plans conducted by the sales force and members of the 
senior management.

•	Continue to develop the sales force performance by automating all work plans and daily, weekly and 
monthly sales plans to help achieve goals and provide the time needed for field visits. A special system has 
been developed to follow up on field visits to the sales team.

•	Lafarge Cement Jordan launched Online payment service, allowing the customers to pay their invoices 
easily. LCJ is the first cement company to provide this service in Jordan

Human Resources 

Training & Development:
Lafarge Jordan continues to develop the competencies and skills of its employees through the Annual 
Training and Development Plans. A large segment of employees in the different hierarchical levels of the 
organization were included in 2019 plan. Focus was mainly on health and safety as a first priority and 
core value. 
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Training Programs during 2019:

Training Type Man Days
1 Health & Safety for Employees 112

2 Health & Safety for Contractors 34

3 Specialized Technical Training Programs 38

4 General Awareness Programs 44

 Total 228

Health and Safety Training Programs:
•	In aim to improve safety on the roads and developing the competency of drivers and safe/defensive 

driving techniques, the certified internal trainers who attended the “Smith System Driver Trainer Course” 
carried out evaluation and training for all drivers at all locations to cascade their acquired skills and 
techniques to their colleagues.

•	In order to achieve “Zero Harm” vision and ensure a safe work environment for all employees and 
contractors, many training programs specialized in Health and Safety were carried out in all company 
sites to emphasize and enhance the understanding and application of relevant procedures and 
instructions (Risk Management, Work at Height, Energy Isolation, Work in Confined Places, Emergency 
Response Procedure …etc).

•	In collaboration with Energy & Minerals Regulatory Commission, Radiation Hazards awareness training 
was conducted for a group of employees from concerned departments in Rashadeya Plant (Health & 
Safety, Quality, Quarry and Maintenance Departments).

Specialized Training Programs:
•	LIFE Program launched in Q4 2017 was completed for the target group of employees. The program 

focuses on competencies development for frontline supervisors by improving their skills in self 
management, managing others and results management in order to develop problem solving skills, 
work organization skills and communication skills for participants.

•	Sales Academy Program kicked off in 2018 was completed in 2019. The program focuses on enhancing 
sales skills for sales managers and employees to improve their functional performance and company 
results. Participants have acquired a clear methodology aimed at achieving positive results for the 
Company and developing the relationships with customers.

Sustainable Development:
•	Despite the limited resources and the financial difficulties, the company managed to execute and 

finance lots of projects that were undertaken in previous years such as:
-	 Allocation of 32 college scholarships every year to support  local community education.
-	 Covering water supply needs of Qadesya municipality, by providing 15000 M3  of water on weekly 

basis during summer for the period 1/5/2019 to 1/11/2019.
-	 Support the development of local communities near Rashadiya plant with cement donations.
-	 Provide technical support to the local community by providing vehicles and qualified workforce 

in cases of snow storms and other requirements of the local and civil communities in Bseira and 
Qadesya.

-	 1000 parcels were distributed during the holy month of Ramadan in support of local community 
subsistence for Bseira, Qadesya, Mahes and Fuheis.

•	In order to contribute to deliver quality education in local schools, the Company renewed its partnership 
with Injaz Company to spread and raise awareness amongst youth in Jordan on Health & Safety.  In 
2019, our Volunteers were able to reach 620 students in 11 schools.
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Article 17: Governance Report
A. Information and details related to implementing instructions and corporate 

governance rules in the company:

Jordan Cement Factories and Subsidiary Companies; are members in LafargeHolcim Group.
Jordan Cement Factories Company implements a set of policies that takes into account corporate 
governance, such as:
1. Procurement Policy.
2. Compensation and Benefits Policy.
3. Code of Business Conduct.
4. Delegation of Authorities policy.
5. Credit policy.

The Company has a global financial system (JDE) and prepares data, financial statements that comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The Company discloses with the Securities Commissions any information that affects the Company’s 
results and financial position.

The Company has a lean organizational structure, which takes into account the segregation of roles 
and responsibilities to ensure internal controls in all operations and procedures. It is also undertaking a 
complete revision of the future organizational structure to meet the needs of the development in the local 
market.

B. Names of current and resigned board members during 2019: 

ResignedCurrentnot 
IndependentIndependentNon-

ExecutiveExecutiveRepresentativeName

NoYesYesNoYesNoLafarge SAJawad Anani

NoYesYesNoYesNoLafarge SAGrant Earnshaw

NoYesYesNoYesNo
Rama Investment 
& Saving Company

Fawzi Hiasat

NoYesNoYesYesNoHimselfOmar Bdeir

NoYesYesNoNoYesHimselfSamaan Samaan

NoYesYesNoYesNo
Social Security 
Corporation

Shehadeh Abu-Hudaib
form 10/4/2019

NoYesYesNoNoYesLafarge SAAli Said from 18/4/2019

NoYesNoYesYesNoHimself
Hussein Al-Saoub
from 30/10/2019

NoYesNoYesYesNoHimself
Duried Mahasneh
from 30/10/2019

YesNoNoYesYesNoHimselfSaoud Nsairat till 3/7/2019

YesNoYesNoYesNoLafarge SA
Rachid Benyakhlef
till 30/4/2019

YesNoYesNoYesNoLafarge SAAmr Reda till 18/4/2019

YesNoYesNoYesNo
Social Security 
Corporation

Yasir Akroush till 10/4/2019
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C. Names of the legal representatives for the Board of Directors: 
1. Lafarge SA (Non-Executive / not Independent)
2. Social Security Corporation (Non-Executive  / not Independent)
3. Rama for Investment & Saving Company (Non-Executive / not Independent)

D. Executive Positions in the Company, held by the following employees: 
Country CEO - Samaan Samaan 
Country CFO - Ahmad Awartani
Country Human Resource VP - Luma Alabdallat
Lafarge RMX GM - Ali Said     
Country Commercial Director - Rachid Yousry 
Acting Industrial Director & Rashadeya plant manager - Mustafa AL-Wishah 

E. Other Memberships held by Borad Of Directors in other Public Shareholding Companies: 
1.	 Grant Earnshaw: NO 
2.	 Samaan Samaan: NO
3.	 Omar Bdeir: Yes 
	 • Jordan Pipes Manufacturing 
	 • General Mining Company 
4.	 Yasir Akroush: Member of many charities and societies
5.	 Fawzi Hiasat: Member of committees in Social Security Corporation 
6.	 Saud Nusseirat: Member of many several institutions and companies
7.	 Jawad Al-Anani: Member of many public institutions and companies
8.	 Shehadeh Abu-Hudaib: Member of many societies, institutions and public bodies
9.	 Hussein Al-Saoub: Member of many societies, institutions and public bodies
10.	Dureid Mahasneh: Member of many societies, institutions and public bodies
11.	Ali Said: No 
12.	Rachid Benyakhlef: No
13.	Amr Reda: No

F. Country Internal Audit & Control Manager: Issa Rabieh

G. Names of the Committees:
1. Audit Committee
2. Compensation & Benefits Committee
3. Governance Committee
4. Risk Assessment Committee

H.	Chairman and members of the Audit Committee qualifications and financial,  
accounting experience:

1. Omar Bdair (Chairman) 
• Member of the Board and representative of the private sector as of 8/2/2006.
• Holder of M.A degree in Civil Engineering- USA.
• Worked as Chairman of Arabian Technical Construction Co. and Jordan Cement 	Company.
• Member of the Board of Directors at a number of Jordanian companies and societies.
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2.	Fawzi Al-Hyasat
•	Member of the Board and representative of Social Security Corporation as of 1/5/2017.

•	Director and General Manager of Salt and North Amman Branches of Social Security 	

Corporation from 1995 until 2011.

•	Held several positions at Social Security Corporation since 1987.

•	Representative of the Social Security Corporation in many board committees.

•	Chairman and member of several committees in Social Security Corporation 

•	Holder of Bachelor degrees in Management Science from Yarmouk University.

3.	Dureid Mahasneh 
• Member of the Board of Directors Since 30/10/2019.

• PhD. in Hydrology and Marine Sciences.

• Assistant Professor at Yarmouk University: 1980-1984.

• Director General of the Marine Science Station in Aqaba: 1983-1984.

• Secretary General of Aqaba Region Authority: 1984-1991.

• Director General of Aqaba Ports Corporation: 1991-1996.

• Secretary general of the Jordan Valley Authority: 1996-1999.

• Consultant: 2000-2005.

• CEO of Tawfiq Gargour Shipping Co.: 2005.

• GM of Tawfiq Gargour Group: 2010.
• Chirman of the Board of Directors of EDAMA Association for Energy, Water & Environment as of 2017.

• Chairman of the Board of Directors of Jordan Shipping Association as of 2019.

• Board Member of the following: National Insurance Company, Al Al-Bayt University, Hamdi Mango 

Research Centre, Strategic Studies Centre, University of Jordan, Scientific Research Council – 

German Jordanian University, Jordan Shipping Association, National Maritime Authority, T.Gargour 

Mercedes Jordan, T.Gargour Mercedes PNA, Arab Potash Co.

4.	Saoud Nsairat 
• Member of the Board and Social Security Investment Fund representative until 3/7/2019.

• Air Force Commander in Royal Jordanian Air Force from 1999 to 2002. 

• Vice Chairman for the Joints Chief of Staff in Royal Jordanian Army from 2002 to 2004.

• Minister of Transport from 2004 to 2007. 

• Chairman of the Board in various Jordanian authorities and companies. 

• Holder of Master’s Degree in Political Science from Mutah University.

• Holder of different Air Force certificates.

I. Chairman and Members for Other Committees:

Compensation & Benefits Committee
1. Hussein Al-Saoub (Chairman / Independent)

2. Omar Bdair (Member / Independent )

3. Fawzi Al-Hyasat (Member / Non-Executive)

4. Grant Earnshaw (Member / Non-Executive)
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Governance Committee
1. Dureid Mahasneh (Chairman / Independent)
2. Shehadeh Abu-Hudaib (Member / Non-Executive)
3. Hussein Al-Saoub (Member / Independent)
4. Jawad Anani (Member / Non-Executive)

Risk Assessment Committee
1. Dureid Mahasneh (Chairman / Independent)
2. Shehadeh Abu-Hudaib (Member / Non-Executive)
3. Samaan Samaan (Member / CCEO / Executive)
4. Ahmad Awartani (Member / CCFO) 

J. Number of meetings for other Committees during the year:
One meeting was held during the year for Compensation & Benefits Committee.

Four meetings were held for audit committee and the members, were present : 
1. Omar Bdeir		  4 meetings
2. Saoud Nsairat 	         - 
3. Fawzi Hiasat		 4 meetings

K. Number of meetings for the Audit Committee with the External Auditor:
During 2019 the Audit Committee attended four meetings with the External Auditor.

L. Number of Board of Directors meetings during the year and attendees:
During 2018 the Board of Directors met 13 times , and the members were : 

1. Jawad Anani			  13 meetings
2. Grant Earnshaw		  7 meetings
3. Fawzi Hiasat			  13 meetings
4. Omar Bdeir			   13 meetings
5. Samaan  Samaan		  13 meetings
6. Shehadeh Abu-Hudaib	 10 meetings
7. Ali Said			   9 meetings
8. Hussein Al-Saoub		  4 meetings
9. Dureid Mahasneh		  4 meetings
10. Saoud Nsairat		  7 meetings
11. Rachid Benyakhlef		         - 
12. Amr Reda		     	         - 
13. Yasir Akroush		  3 meetings

Chairman of Board Directors 
Jawad Anani
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Jordan securities commission requirements records for 2019

A. Letter from chairman: Please refer to page (6)

B. Board of Directors Report:
Thirteen meetings were held by the Boards of Directors during 2019.

1. Company’s Main Activities:

a. The company’s main activity is to produce manufacture, and sale of cement and to provide innovative building solutions to 

the local market.

b.  Geographical distribution of the company is as follows:

HeadcountLocationNo.

80Head office- Fuhais1

63Fuhais Plant- Fuhais2

207Rashadeya Plant- Tafila3

3Aqaba sales office- Aqaba4

353Total

C. The total capital investment for the company and its subsidiaries reached (244) MJD in 2019.

2. Associate companies & Subsidiaries:

1. Sudan Company CTS- SUDAN
The subsidiary (CTS Company -SUDAN) the company 
operation was stopped. Lafarge cement Jordan owned 
99% from the capital of this company the amount of the 
capital is 27,191 JD.

2.	Arabian Concrete Supply Company (Lafarge 
Concrete Jordan)
•	 Type of subsidiary: limited liability
•	 Main activity: Ready Mix production &transportation 
•	 Subsidiary capital: 1,915,000 JD
•	 Ownership percentage: 51%
•	 Address:

King Abdullah 11 ST  –Al Rawabi –Bayader wadi Al- Seer 
P.O.Box 930490
Amman-Jordan
Tel:06-5507250
Fax:06-5507260

Headcount: 334 employees (distributed as per below schedule 
over the different plants & locations):

30Head Office
39Abu Alanda plant       
10Shafa badran plant
32Irbid plant                  
23Dleil plant                
51Sweileh plant
18Jerash plant
25Dead Sea
11Madaba Plant   
15Aqaba   
20Tafila  Plant
38Maintenance
20Quality Dept   
2Safety,Healthy & Environment Dept.

* In March 2011 Arab Concrete Supply Company (the subsidiary) 
has established Arabian Specialized Transportation Company 
100% owned by the Arab Concrete Supply Company (Lafarge 
Concrete Jordan)

 
- Type of subsidiary: limited liability
- Main activity: Transportation
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3.	 A. Members of Board of Directors: Please refer to page (9)

	 B.Higher/ Top Management: Please refer to page (15)

4. The Main Shareholders:

PercentageNumber of shares 
2018PercentageNumber of shares 

2019NationalityShareholder Name 

50.275%30,388,664 50.275%30,388,664FrenchLafarge SA

21.83%13,197,22621.83%13,197,226JordanianSocial Security Corporation

10.31%6,232,12510.31%6,232,125MoroccanMayloud Shoaiby

5. Competitive Position:

A. Local Market
Market is characterized by oversupply situation, as production capacity reached 10 million tons compared to local market 

demand which does not exceed 3.3 million tons. Hence, a fierce competition is clear among companies operating in the cement 

industry. Price competition is the main basis for competition in the local market. Distance and proximity play a major role on this. 

in addition to this import of clinker from regional market with low prices due to low production cost.

B. Foreign market
It's a limited market due to high production cost, which does not fit with the global markets and low export prices foward Plestine market.

6.Main Suppliers & Customers:
Supply % of total company purchasesSuppliers:a

34%
16%

1- National Electricity Company
2- NatHealth

 

Sales % of total company salesMain Customers:b

26%
18%

1. Arabian Concrete Supply Company.
2-Kawasmi Trading & Land Transportation

 

7. Franchise, Collateral & Invention Rights :

-	 No collateral agreement is provided for Lafarge Jordan Cement Company by the government, in addition to the expiration of 
the Merit agreement with the government by the end of year 2008.

-	 The company registered a patent entitled “The use of pigments in the Portland cement manufacturing process “ and grant 
number 3049 with effect from 28.08.2016.

8. Government Decisions & International Quality Standards:

a) Government decisions:
1-	Continuing to allow cement and clinker import, while granting new licenses for cement production, had a negative impact 

on the cement market.
2-	Not approving Rezoning Fuhais Plant lands from agriculture and industrial to commercial and housing will negatively impact 

company’s ability to benefit from its lands fair market value.
3-	The decision to include Land basin 5 Al Baqa'a to municipality of Qadisiyah will negatively affect the future operations of the 

Rashadiyah plant.
4-	Rejection of the company request for recognizing the fair market value of the company assets within its financial statements, 

negatively impacted company’s ability to deal with company’s accumulated losses.

b) International Quality Standards: 
The company applies the International Quality Standards and has obtained the following certificates: 
1. ISO 9001
2. ISO 14001
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9. A.Organizational Hierarchy: Please refer to page (14)

B. Headcount by Qualifications

Headcount as of 31/12/2019Qualification / certification

5MASTER’S DEGREE

114BACHELORS DEGREE

49COMMUNITY COLLEGE DIPLOMA

30TAWJIHI (Secondary education certificate )

84BELOW TAWJIHI

1ILLITERATE

50APPLIED SECONDARY EDUCATION CERTIFICATE

20TRAINING CERTIFICATE

353TOTAL

Subsidiary’s Headcount by Qualifications

TawjihiDiplomaBachelor Deg.PHD & Master
Deg.HeadcountCompany 

26015254304Plants 

3120630Head Office

263164510334Total

C. Employee development & training programs: Please refer to page (18)

10. Risks:

1.	 Continuous increase in production cost including power and mining costs.

2.	 Relatively small Jordanian market at the presence of five companies producing and selling cement in an oversupplied market 

situation.

3.	 Impact of economic slowdown on the overall cement market.

4.	 High number of headcount incomparsion to its production and its operational activities.

5.	 Decrease in gross margin.

6.	 Environmental litigations compensation of 4,9 MJOD for local community in Fuhais & Rashadeya in 2019.

7.	 No agreement to rezone Fuhais plant lands that was stopped since 2013.

8.	 The continuous increase in the cost of health insurance for employees and retirees.

11. Main activities & achievements: Please refer to page (17)

12.Financial impact of non recurring activities:
1.	 A provision of 20.4 MJD was recorded for the restructuring, including health insurance expenses.

2. A provision of 6.8 MJD was recorded for the Inventory Impairment.

3. Fixed assets of 1.4 MJD were sold.

4. An Impairment loss of 3.7 MJD was recorded for Fuhais Plant line 2.

5. Impairment of deferred tax assets was recorded by 16.1MJD. 
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13. Evolution of profit, dividends, shareholders equity, securities prices:

Price per share 
(JD)

Net shareholders 
equity 

(JD Million)
DistributionDividends 

(JD million)
Net profit before tax & 

fees (JD million)Year

1.3476.908--(26.225)2013

1.7076.966--(1.382)2014

1.29081.587--2.2902015

1.56073.367--(1.744)2016

1.21043,913--(32.433)2017

0.6202.660--(27.883)2018

0.320(70.218)--(48.682)2019

*The Recognized profit in 2015,caused recording deferred tax assets related to previous years.

14. Financial position Analysis & Results:
Lafarge Cement Jordan’s 2019 annual results showed a net Loss of (65.1) MJOD compared to net loss  of (34.6) MJOD 
in 2018.

Mainly Driven by:
1-	Provision of 20.4 MJOD for headcount reduction (including heath care insurance after retirement).
2-	 Impairment of deferred tax assets by 16.1 MJOD as a result of decrease income tax rate according to new income tax law.
3- A provision of 6.8 MJOD was recorded for the Inventory Impairment according to IFRS.
4- Impairment for Fuhais Plant line 2 by 3.7 MJOD.

Company’s financial statements in 2019 are consolidated financials; Minority Interest is 71 KJOD in 2019. 

Below is a list of key financial indicators for the company in 2019 compared to 2018:

20192018Financial indicatorNo

(1,08) JD/Share(,57) JD/ShareReturn per share1

(52)%(22)%ROI (return on investment)2

(93)%(1300)%Return on shareholders’ equity3

(108)%(59)%Return on capital4

1%(16)%Gross  profit 5

 (87,987,307) (47,958,174 )Net working capital(JOD)6

(39)%(57)%Liquidity Ratio7
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Government Income:
Lafarge Cement Jordan contributed to government treasury and thus to the Jordanian economy by 6.7 MJD during 2019 

compared to 6.3 MJD in 2018.

The list below is the government returns for the years 2011-2019:

Total MJDIncome tax & other fees MJDVAT MJDProfit MJDYear

19.7080.84118.867-2011

9.1000.6598.441-2012

9.4380.4408.998-2013

13.7290.63313.096-2014

10.8410.53610.305-2015

10.7300.57310.157-2016

8.8070.5578.250-2017

6.2720.5535.719-2018

6.6860.6836.003-2019

83.8395.47588.632-Total

15. Future development, 2020 Plan & the Board Forecasted Financial results
Please refer to page (8)

16. Audit Fees:
Total Audit fees for the external auditors Deloitte & Touche for the year ended 2019 is (48) K JD for cement company. 

The total amount paid to the external auditors Deloitte & Touche for work done at the subsidiaries was as follows:

TotalOtherAudit feeCompany

14,150-14,150Lafarge Concrete Jordan

3,770-3,770Arabian Specialized Transportation Company

17,920-17,920TOTAL
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17. 1 Securities owned by Board of Directors members:

No. of shares
2019

No. of shares 
2018

NationalityTitleName

30,388,664

250

30,388,664

250
JordanianChairman from 30/4/2019

Lafarge Company Represented by:
1- Jawad Anani

A NoneNoneEnglandVice chairman from 30/4/20192 - Grant Earnshaw  

NoneNoneMoroccanVice chairman Till 30/4/20193- Rachid Benyakhlef    

NoneNoneCanadianMember from 18/4/20194- Ali Said     

NoneNoneEgyptianMember till 18/4/20195- Amr Reda

13,197,226

None

13,197,226

None 
JordanianMember till 10/4/2019

Social Security Corporation Represented by:

1- Yasir Aqel AkroushB

NoneNoneJordanian Member from 10/4/20192- Shehadeh Abu-Hudaib

10,000

None

10,000

None
JordanianMember

Rama investment & Saving Company Represented by:

Fawzi Abdallah Hiasat
C

56,35656,356JordanianMember
Private Sector:

Omar “Mohammed Ali” Othman Bdeir
D

250250JordanianMemberSamaan SamaanE

250250JordanianMember till 3/7/2019Saoud Ahmad NsairatF

250NoneJordanianMember from 30/10/2019Dureid MahasnehG

250NoneJordanianMember from 30/10/2019Hussein Al-SaoubH

250250JordanianMember till 30/4/2019Jawad AnaniI

No other companies’ shares are controlled by members of the board.

17.2 Securities owned by Board of Directors’ relatives:

No. of shares 2019No. of shares 2018NationalityNameNo.

115115JordanianGhada Ahmad Mukhtar / Wife of Member of the board Omar Bdeir1. 

- No shares owned by other members of the board relatives.

- No shares owned by relatives of the higher management.

- No other companies’ shares are controlled by members of the board. 
 

17.3 Number of shares owned by Top Management:
No. of shares 2019No. of shares 2018NationalityTitleDescription

250250JordanianCountry  CEO Samman Samman 

NoneNoneCanadianLafarge RMX GM  Ali Said 

NoneNoneJordanianCountry CFO from 1/9/2019Ahmad Awartini

NoneNoneJordanianCountry Human Resource  VPLuma Alabdallat

NoneNoneMoroccanCommercial DirectorRachid Yousry

NoneNoneJordanian
Industrial Director & Rashadeya plant 

manager starting from 28/10/2019
Mustafa Alwishah

NoneNoneJordanianCountry Finance  VP Till 13/3/2019Alaa Abu Ameereh

NoneNoneJordanian
Industrial Director & Rashadeya Plant 

Manager Till 23/10/2019  
Abd-el Fattah Muhtasib

No other companies’ shares are controlled by Executive committee. 
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18 A.  Board of Directors remuneration & benefits:

Other

Total 
Yearly 

benefits 
(JD)

Yearly 
Travel 

expenses 
(JD)

Board 
Remuneration 

2018( JD)

Transportation 
allowance
(JD)2019
After tax

Yearly 
salaryTitleDescription

8,184--2803,627-Chairman From 30/4/2019Jawad Anani1

---150--
Vice chairman

from 30/4/2019
 **Grant Earnshaw 2

---56--
Vice chairman

Till 30/4/2019
**Rachid Benyakhlef3

---243--
Vice chairman

Till 25/7/2018

**Ahmad Said Heshmat 

Hasan
4

------MemberSamaan Samaan5

------Member from 18/4/2019 Ali Said6

---336--Member till 18/4/2019** Amr Reda7

--2803,627-MemberOmar Bdeir8

---2992,116-Member till 10/4/2019* Yasir Aqel Akroush9

----1,511-Member From 10/4/2019* Shehadeh Abu-Hudaib10

---3363,627-Member*Fawzi Abdallah Hiasat11

---2801,814-Member till 3/7/2019  Saoud Ahmad Nsairat 12

------Member from 30/10/2019Dureid Mahasneh13

------Member from 30/10/2019Hussein Al-Saoub14

*	 Transportation Allowance & remuneration package for Social Security Corporation representatives & Rama investment & 
Saving Company amounting 7,890 JD have been transferred to Social Security Corporation.

**	 Remuneration package for Lafarge Company representatives’ amounting 785 JDs after tax for 2019 have been transferred 
to Lafarge Company - France.

18 B. Top Management remuneration & benefits:

Other 
benefits

Tax paid 
locally & 
Externally 

(JD)

*Yearly 
Travel 

expenses 
(JD)

Yearly 
remuneration 

& other 
allowance (JD)

Monthly 
salary 
(JD)

TitleDescription

Status Car -5,79312,00011,000Country CEO Samman Samman1

--8,041185,1958,379GM ReadyMix JordanAli Said2

--1,15019,2007,636Country Human Resource  VPLuma Al-Abdallat3

--32813,2005,956
Country Finance VP Till 

13/3/2019
Alaa Abu Ameereh4

Status Car & 
house rent 

38,04010,91871,6897,692Commercial DirectorRachid Yousry5

Status Car -1,8154,1085,267
Industrial Director & 

Rashadeya Plant Manager Till 
23/10/2019  

Abd-el Fattah 
Muhtasib

6

---8,1608,333Country CFO from 1/9/2019Ahmad Awartani7

Status Car -1,3545,7606,693
Industrial Director & 

Rashadeya plant manager 
starting from 28/10/2019

Mustafa Alwishah8

* Represents travel tickets expenses for the top management members and does not include travel perdiems, for which they are not entitled. 
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19. Donations Paid & accrued in 2019:
JDDescriptionNo.

100,698Local community donation1

20. Commitments, Contracts & Projects with Associate companies:

•	 Lafarge Cement Jordan Company’s relations with the Subsidiary (Lafarge Concrete Jordan ) during  2019 amounted to 
12,921,726 JD, which represents the net purchases of cement 

•	 The company in 2019 did not make any commitments, contracts & projects with Chairman of the Board or Board of Directors 
or General Manager or with any employee in the company or their relatives.

21.	A- Company’s environmental contribution: Please refer to page (17)

	 B- Company contribution in serving the local community: Please refer to page (19)

          C-  1. The Board of Directors confirms that there are no significant issues that may affect company’s continuity 
     	          over the coming year.
	     2. Confirms its responsibility for preparing the financial statements and providing an efficient control 
	          system within the enterprise.

Member 
Omar Bdeir

Member 
Ali Said

Member
Samaan Samaan

Vice chairman
Grant Earnshaw

Chairman of the Board
Jawad Anani

Member
Hussein Al-Saoub

Member
Duraid Mahasneh

Member 
Shehadeh Abu-Hudaib

  Member
Fawzi Hiasat

3.	We sign here below to confirm the correctness, accuracy, and completeness of the 
information in this report.

Country  CFO

Ahmad Awartani
Country Chief Execvutive Officer

Samaan Samaan
Chairman of the Board

Jawad Anani
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
AM/ 014591
 
To the Shareholders’ 
Jordan Cement Factories Company
(A Public Shareholding Limited Company)
Amman – The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan 
 
Disclaimer of Opinion
We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of the Jordan Cement Factories Company and its subsidiaries 

(the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement 

of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies.

 

We do not express an opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group. Because of the significance 

of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

 

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
Property, plant and equipment and inventory, which is carried at JD 60 million and JD 19.9 million in the consolidated statement 

of financial position respectively, includes property, plant and equipment and spare parts located in Rashadiyah of JD 35.5 

million and JD 2.7 million respectively which exhibits indicators of impairment. Due to the current situation, management has 

not determined if the recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment and spare parts located in Rashadiyah is greater 

than their carrying amount, which constitutes a departure from International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’). We were 

unable to determine the adjustments necessary to these amounts, if any.

 

Note (34) in the consolidated financial statements indicates that the Group incurred a loss before tax of JD 48.7 million during 

the year ended December, 31 2019, had net current liabilities of JD 88 million and net cash used in operations of JD 5.3 million 

for the year then ended.  The Company had also defaulted on some of its outstanding financial obligations as at December 31, 

2019.

 

In performing their assessment of the use of the going concern basis of accounting, the Board of Directors have considered the 

Company’s ability to settle its current and expected monetary obligation for a period of 12 months from the financial statements 

date, and based on this assessment, the Company will commence the process of filing for insolvency with the intention to 

reorganize the Company. The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the outcome of this process being 

successful. 

 

As stated in Note (34), these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note (34), indicate that a material 

uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Other Matter
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are a translation of the original consolidation financial statements which 

are in the Arabic language, to which reference should be made.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements  
The Company’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 

a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s consolidated financial reporting process.

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer 

of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit 

opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

statements in Jordan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Due to limitations of our work referred to in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were unable to determine 

whether the Company maintained proper books of accounts. 

 

  

Amman – The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan

July 4, 2020 

Deloitte & Touche (M.E.) – Jordan
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JORDAN CEMENT FACTORIES COMPANY 
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING LIMITED COMPANY

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 

ASSETS Note 2019 2018

Current Assets JD JD

Cash at banks 5  3,398,078  991,826 

Accounts receivable and checks under collection 6  22,230,556  22,320,510 

Inventory and spare parts 7  19,854,277  34,741,615 

Other debit balances 8  3,803,331  4,432,929 

Held for sale assets 9  7,100,000  -   

     Total Current Assets  56,386,242  62,486,880 

Non-current Assets

Property and equipment - net 10  59,963,372  73,053,455 

Financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income 11  167,994  171,949 

Goodwill 12  2,495,945  2,495,945 

Employees’ housing and car loans 13  771,628  1,628,767 

Right of use assets 14  3,955,578  -   

Deferred tax assets 15/d  1,204,672  17,353,102 

     Total Non-Current Assets  68,559,189  94,703,218 

     TOTAL ASSETS  124,945,431  157,190,098 

LIABILITIES AND OWNERS’ EQUITY 

Current Liabilities

Due to banks 16  29,486,127  33,187,743 

Short-term accounts payable 17  58,369,805  47,331,006 

Other credit balances 18  16,871,482  19,744,063 

Loan from a related party 19  24,500,000  -   

Long-term loans maturing within one year 20  11,250,000  8,193,723 

Income tax provision 15/a  241,663  670,847 

Provision for restructuring 21  2,075,506  1,317,672 

Lease liability – current portion 14  1,578,966  -   

     Total Current Liabilities   144,373,549  110,445,054 

Non-current Liabilities

Obligations for employees’ post-retirement health 

      insurance benefits 22  40,356,672  28,335,000 

Long-term loans 20  8,250,000  15,750,000 

Lease liability – non-current portion 14  2,183,433  -   

      Total Non-current Liabilities  50,790,105  44,085,000 

      Total Liabilities 195,163,654 154,530,054 

Owners’ Equity 

Paid-up capital 23  60,444,460  60,444,460 

Treasury stock 23 (323) (323)

Fair value reserve (69,566) (65,611)

Accumulated (losses) 34 (135,739,787)  (62,231,177)

     Net (Deficit) in Shareholders’ Equity  (75,365,216)  (1,852,651)

Non-controlling interest 26  5,146,993 4,512,695 

     Net (Deficit) in Owners’ Equity      (70,218,223) 2,660,044 

     TOTAL LIABILITIES LESS (DEFICIT) IN OWNERS’ EQUITY 124,945,431 157,190,098

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FROM (1) TO (36) CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE ACCOMPANYING AUDITOR’S REPORT
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JORDAN CEMENT FACTORIES COMPANY 
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING LIMITED COMPANY

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the Year Ended December 31,

20182019Note

JDJD

 61,672,790  63,432,024 Sales

(71,533,722)(62,704,484)Cost of sales

(9,860,932)727,540 Gross Profit (Loss) from Sales

(2,186,228)(1,835,684)24Selling and marketing expenses

(8,819,365)(9,478,385)25General and administrative expenses

(20,866,525)(10,586,529)Operating (Loss)

 128,997  210,652 Interest income

(33,600)(30,408)18Provision for rehabilitation of quarries and environment  protection

(17,329)(49,288)Provision for employees’ vacations

(5,009,432)(5,827,167)Financing costs

(13,338,115)(3,210,012)18Lawsuits provision

9,500,000 (14,883,520)21(Provision) released from restructuring provision

(48,108) (6,860,412)7Inventory and spare parts impairment provision

 -    (3,669,754)9Held for sale assets impairment provision

(1,374,000)(5,542,417)22Post-retirement health insurance interest and expense

511,947 250,916 Gain from foreign currency revaluation 

 1,952,189  1,408,162 Gain on sale of property and equipment

 710,388  108,031 Other income

(27,883,588)(48,681,746)(Loss) for the Year before Income Tax

(6,698,452)(16,435,381)15/bIncome tax (expense) 

(34,582,040)(65,117,127)(Loss) for the Year

Attributable to:

(35,658,585)(65,187,925)Company shareholders

 1,076,545  70,798 26Non-controlling interests

(34,582,040)(65,117,127)

JD / FILSJD / FILS

(-/59)(1/08)31Shareholders’ Basic and Diluted (Loss) per Share for the Year 

  

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FROM (1) TO (36) CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE ACCOMPANYING AUDITOR’S REPORT
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JORDAN CEMENT FACTORIES C-OMPANY
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING LIMITED COMPANY

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended December 31,

20182019Note

JDJD

(34,582,040)(65,117,127)(Loss) for the year

Add: Other comprehensive income items that will  

        not be reclassified to the income statement in 

        subsequent periods:

(4,746)(3,955)Net (loss) from financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income

(2,527,000)(8,320,685)22Actuarial losses for post-retirement health insurance benefits

(37,113,786)(73,441,767)Total Comprehensive (Loss) 

Total Comprehensive (Loss) Attributable to:

(38,190,331)(73,512,565)The Company’s shareholders

1,076,545 70,798 Non-controllers’ interests

(37,113,786)(73,441,767)

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FROM (1) TO (36) CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE ACCOMPANYING AUDITOR’S REPORT
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JORDAN CEMENT FACTORIES COMPANY 
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING LIMITED COMPANY

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31,

20182019Note
JDJD

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

(27,883,588)(48,681,746)  (Loss) for the year before income tax

Adjustments for:

5,695,4544,500,74710  Property and equipment depreciation

-1,795,11314  Right of use assets depreciation

(1,952,189)(1,408,162)  (Gain) on sale of property and equipment

300,906245,0326  Provision for expected credit loss

13,338,1153,210,01218  Lawsuits provision

1,374,0005,542,41722  Post-retirement health insurance interest  and expense

5,009,4325,827,167  Financing expense

(9,500,000)14,883,52021  Provision (reversal) of restructuring provision

-3,669,754  Held for sale assets impairment provision

48,1086,860,4127  Spare parts impairment provision

(128,997)(210,652)  Interest (income)  

(13,698,759)(3,766,386)Cash Flows (used in) Operating Activities Before Changes in Working Capital 

7,788,3381,629,739  Decrease in accounts receivable, other debit balances, housing and car loans

(2,465,207)8,026,926  Decrease (increase) in inventory and spare parts

(6,574,247)10,496,018  Increase (decrease) in trade payables and other credit balances

(14,949,875)16,386,297
  Net Cash Flows from (used in) Operating Activities 

      Before Income Tax and Provisions’ Payments

(8,325,011)(4,976,312)18  Paid from lawsuits provision

(1,861,000)(1,841,430)22  Paid from postretirement health insurance benefits 

-(14,125,686)21  Paid from restructuring provision

(890,789)(716,135)15/a  Income tax paid 

(26,026,675)(5,273,266)   Net Cash Flows (used in) Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

(1,107,654)(2,281,576)  Change in property and equipment

2,065,4901,348,862  Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

128,997210,652  Interest received

1,086,833(722,062)    Net Cash Flows (used in) from Investing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

10,303,823-20  Increase in loans

(4,610,100)(4,443,723)20  (Payments) from loans

-24,500,000  Increase in loans from related parties

(5,009,432)(5,827,167)  Interest paid

(1,127,000)-  Dividends distributed by subsidiary companies to non- controlling interest

-(2,125,914)  Lease liability payments

11,429,541(3,701,616)  (Decrease) increase in due to banks

10,986,8328,401,580    Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities

(13,953,010)2,406,252    Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash at Banks

14,944,836991,826  Cash at Banks – beginning of the year

991,8263,398,0785    Cash at Banks – End of the Year	

Non-Monetary Transactions

 - 563,500  Dividends reversal

 - 10,769,754 Transfers from property and equipment to held for sale assets – net

 - 572,9237  Transfers from inventory to held for sale assets

51,2141,812,37510 Transfers from projects in progress to property and equipment

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FROM (1) TO (36) CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE ACCOMPANYING AUDITOR’S REPORT
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1. General
a.	Jordan Cement Factories Company (subsequently herein referred to as “the Company”) was established 

in 1951 as a Jordanian public shareholding limited Company and was registered at the Ministry of Industry and Trade under 
Number (25) on June 10, 1964. The Company’s authorized and issued capital was increased gradually to become JD 
60,444,460 represented by 60,444,460 shares at a par value of one Jordanian Dinar per share. The Company’s permanent 
address is Al-Fuhais, Shaker Circle, P.O. Box 930019, Amman – The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.
The Company’s main objectives are the production, manufacturing, and the trading of the cement inside the Hashemite Kingdom 
of Jordan and outside it, either directly or through intermediaries with conditions and methods that the Company sees fit.

b.	The Company is 50.275% owned by Lafarge – France (Parent Company).
c.	The Company’s Board of Directors approved the consolidated financial statements on July 2, 2020.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
a. Basis of Preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements
-	 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the standards issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC).
-	 The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are presented in Jordanian Dinar, which is also its 

functional currency.
-	 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost principle except for financial 

assets and financial liabilities, which are stated at fair value at the date of the consolidated financial statements.
-	 The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those ‎applied 

in the year ended December 31, 2018 except for the effect of adopting the new and modified standards stated in Notes (3-a) 
and (3-b). 

b. Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries under its control. 
Moreover, control is achieved when the Company has authority over the investee, it is exposed to variable returns or holds rights 
for its participation in the investee company, and it is able to exercise its authority over the investee company. In addition, the 
transactions, balances, income and expenses between the Company and its subsidiaries are eliminated.

The subsidiaries’ results of operations are consolidated in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date of their 
acquisition, which is the date on which effective control over the subsidiary takes place. The results of disposal of the subsidiaries 
are consolidated in the consolidated statement of profit or loss up to the disposal date, which is the date on which the Company 
loses control over the subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:
•	 Has the ability to control the investee;
•	 Is exposed to variable returns or has the right to variable returns resulting from its association with the investee; and
•	 Has the ability to use its power to influence the investee’s returns.

The Company reassess whether it controls the investee companies, while the facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more control check points referred to above.

If its voting rights become less than those of the majority in any of the investee companies, the Company shall have control power 
when voting rights suffice to grant it the ability to direct the activities of the related subsidiary unilaterally. The Company takes into 
consideration all the facts and circumstances in assessing whether the Company has voting rights in the investee that enable it 
to exercise control or not. Among these facts and circumstances:
•	 The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and distribution of other voting rights;
•	 Potential voting rights held by the Company and any other voting rights or third parties;
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
•	 Any additional facts and circumstances indicating that the Company has or does not have an existing responsibility for 

directing the relevant activities at the time of making the required decisions, including how to vote at previous General 
Assembly meetings.
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When the Company loses control over any of its subsidiaries, the Company:
•	 Derecognizes the assets of the subsidiary (including goodwill) and liabilities;
•	 Derecognizes the carrying amount of any uncontrolled interest;
•	 Derecognizes the cumulative transfer differences recognized in equity;
•	 Derecognizes the fair value of the consideration received;
•	 Derecognizes the fair value of any investment held;
•	 Derecognizes any surplus or deficit in the consolidated statement of profit or loss;
•	 Reclassifies the Company’s equity previously recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income to the 

consolidated income statement or retained earnings as appropriate.

The subsidiaries’ financial statements are prepared for the same reporting year using the same accounting policies as those of 
the parent company. If the subsidiaries adopt accounting policies that differ from those of the parent company, the necessary 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to confirm with the accounting policies of the parent company.

Non-controlling interest represents the portion that the Company does not own from the subsidiary companies’ owners’ equity.

-  The Company has as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 the following subsidiaries in direct or indirect way:

Company’s Name
Paid up Capital Percentage 

Ownership
Principal 
Activity Place of Work

JD

Arabian Concrete Supply Company * 1,900,000 51% Manufacturing Amman 

Al-Fuhais Green Heights Company Real Estate 

Development **
15,000 100%

Real Estate 

Investments
 Amman

*	 Arabian Concrete Supply Company (subsidiary company) incorporated the Arabian Specialized Transportation Company on 
March 10, 2011, which is owned by the Arabian Concrete Supply Company and they both conduct their operations in Jordan.

**	The Cement Factories Company established Al-Fuheis Al Khadra Real Estate Development Company on 30 July 2018 with 
an authorized capital of JD 30,000 and paid JD 15,000 as of December 31, 2019. The Company has not conducted any 
operational activity to date.

The subsidiary Company’s balances as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was as follows:

December 31, 2019

Assets Liabilities Revenues Expenses

JD JD JD JD

Arab Concrete Supply Company after consolidation with Arab 

Specialized Transport Company
30,410,249 23,457,970 38,433,442 38,258,856

Al - Fuheis Al - Khadraa Real Estate Development Company 15,000 - - -

December 31, 2018

Arab Concrete Supply Company after consolidation with Arab 

Specialized Transport Company
24,415,471 18,700,884 40,583,689 38,356,558

Al - Fuheis Al - Khadraa Real Estate Development Company 15,000 - - -

The following are the significant accounting policies adopted:

a. Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Company’s consolidated statement of financial position when the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets 
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2019      ANNUAL REPORT      LAFARGE CEMENT JORDAN      PAGE  41 

5

Financial assets:
Financial assets are recognised in the Company’s statement of financial position when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets (except for financial assets at fair value through statement of profit or 
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on 
the classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:
•	 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual 

cash flows;
•	 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

All other financial assets are measured at fair value.

Amortized cost and effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income 
over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding 
expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross 
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a 
credit‑adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit 
losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

Foreign exchange gains and losses
The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and 
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part 
of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Impairment of financial assets
The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) on trade receivables. The amount of expected credit 
losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial 
instrument.

The Company always recognises lifetime expected credit loss for trade receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial 
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that 
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction 
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Company recognises lifetime expected credit loss when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Lifetime expected credit loss represents the expected credit losses that will result 
from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

Provision for credit losses
The Company has adopted the simplified approach to recognize expected credit losses over the life of its receivables as 
permitted by IFRS 9. Accordingly, non-impaired trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component have 
been classified as part of stage 2 with the recognition of expected credit losses over their lifetime.
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A provision for the expected credit loss should be recognized over the life of the financial instrument if the credit risk on that 

financial instrument increases substantially since the initial recognition and the expected credit loss is an expected weighted 

estimate of the present value of the credit loss. This value is measured as the present value of the difference between the 

cash flows due to the Company under the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive arising from the 

expectation of several future economic scenarios, discounted at the effective interest rate of the asset.

The Company assesses whether there is objective evidence of impairment on an individual basis for each asset of individual 

value and collectively for other assets that are not individually significant.

Provisions for loss of credit losses are presented as a reduction of the total carrying amount of financial assets at amortized cost.

Write off
The Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and 

there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 

proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are significantly overdue, whichever occurs sooner. Financial 

assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s recovery procedures, taking into account 

legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

De-recognition of financial assets
The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it 

transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Company 

neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, 

the Company recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the 

Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to 

recognise the financial asset 

On de-recognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 

sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Classification as debt or equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified either as financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 

contractual arrangements, the definitions of the financial instrument and the equity instrument.

Equity instruments
The equity instrument defines a contract that evidences ownership of the remaining shares of an entity’s assets after deducting 

all liabilities. The equity instruments issued are recorded with the proceeds received net of the direct issue cost.

The re-acquisition of the Company’s equity instruments is recognized and recognized directly in equity. No gain or loss is 

recognized in the income statement when purchasing, selling, issuing or cancelling the Company’s equity instruments.

Financial Liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method or at fair value through 

the statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities that are not (1) those that are acquired in a business combination, (2) held for trading, or (3) designated 

at fair value through the income statement, are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables classified as “financial liabilities” are measured initially at fair value less transaction costs, and are 

subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognized on an effective 

yield basis.
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The effective interest method is the method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and allocating interest expense 

over the period in question. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts expected future cash payments within the 

expected life of the financial obligation or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

De-recognition of financial liabilities:
The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 

have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and 

payable is recognised consolidated statement of profit or loss.

b. Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Property and equipment 

are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life using the following annual percentages:

Description Years

Buildings 6-50

Machinery and equipment 5-30

Vehicles 5-15

Tools and devices 5-15

Furniture and fixture 5-11

Computers 2-15

Others 5-20

When the recoverable amount of any property and equipment becomes less than its net book value, its value is reduced to the 

recoverable amount, and the impairment loss is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The useful lives of property and equipment are revalued at the end of each year. If the revaluation differs from previous estimates, 

the change is recorded in subsequent years, being a change in estimate.

Property and equipment are eliminated when disposed of or when no future benefits are expected from their use or disposal.

c. Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired through incorporation are recognized at fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Intangible assets acquired through a method other than consolidation are stated at cost and are classified based on their 

useful lives or for an indefinite period. Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortized during that life and amortized in 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are reviewed for impairment at the 

consolidated statement of financial position date and any impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss. 

Intangible assets are not capitalized internally in the Company and are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

in the same year.

Any indications of impairment of intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date. The estimated useful lives of these assets 

are reviewed and any adjustments made for subsequent years.

Intangible assets are amortized over an estimated useful life of 15% per annum.
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d. Goodwill 
Goodwill is recorded at cost, which represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition or purchase of the investment in 

the associate or subsidiary of the Company’s share in the fair value of the net assets of that entity at the date of acquisition. 

Goodwill arising on investment in subsidiaries is recorded separately as intangible assets, arising from investment in associates, 

is recognized as part of the investment account of the associate and the cost of goodwill is subsequently reduced by any 

impairment in value of the investment.

Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating unit or units for impairment testing purposes.

Goodwill is tested to determine the goodwill at the date of preparation of the financial statements and goodwill is reduced if there 

is an indication that the goodwill has been impaired if the estimated recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (s) to which 

goodwill relates is less than the carrying amount of the unit / Cash generating units. An impairment loss is recognized in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

e. Projects in Progress
Projects in progress represent plant and properties under construction and are stated at cost.  This includes the cost of 

construction and other direct costs. 

f. Housing and Car Loans Employees
Housing loans and motor vehicles are recognized at fair value and are subsequently recorded at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method. 

g. Inventory and Spare Parts
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

The cost is calculated as follows:

•	 Raw materials and spare parts: Cost of purchase using the weighted average method.

•	 Ready-made inventory and under manufacturing: the cost of raw materials, direct wages and other indirect expenses.

•	 Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price in normal circumstances after deducting the estimated cost of 

completion of the production process and the estimated cost of completion of the sale and is recognized as a provision for 

impairment in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

h. Foreign Currency Transactions
For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each group company are expressed 

in the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

Stand-alone financial statements are prepared for the subsidiary companies. The individual financial statements of each group 

company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates (its functional currency). 

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 

currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance 

sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 

at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates 

prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 

a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

•	 Exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

•	 Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither 

planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), 

which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to consolidated statement of profit 

or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the net investment.
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For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign operations are 
translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates 
at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognized in OCI and accumulated in a separate 
component of equity.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving 
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or 
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest become a financial asset), all of the exchange 
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company 
are reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group 
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is re-attributed to non-controlling 
interest and are not recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of 
associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate 
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss.

i. Payables and accrued expenses
Liabilities are recognized for amounts payable in the future for goods and services due, whether claimed or not claimed by the 
supplier.

j. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably.

k. Income tax
Income tax expenses represent accrued taxes and deferred taxes.

Income tax expenses are accounted for on the basis of taxable income, Moreover, taxable income differs from income declared 
in the financial statements because the latter includes non-taxable revenue or tax expenses not deductible in the current year 
but deductible in subsequent years, accumulated losses acceptable by the tax authorities, items not accepted for tax purposes 
or subject to tax.

Taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates prescribed according to the prevailing laws, regulations and instructions of the 
countries where the Company operates.

Deferred taxes are taxes expected to be paid or recovered as a result of the temporary timing differences between the value of 
assets or liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the value on the basis of which taxable income is calculated, 
Moreover, deferred taxes are calculated based on the liability method in the consolidated statement of financial position according 
to the tax rates expected to be applied upon the settlement of the tax liability or realization of the deferred tax assets.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reviewed as of the date of the consolidated financial statements, and reduced in case no 
benefit is expected to arise therefrom, partially or totally.
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l. Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity
An allowance is recognized for the Company’s liability for employees’ end of service indemnities in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss in accordance with the Company’s Employee Service Scheme.

m. Post-retirement Health Insurance Obligations
The Company provides specific health insurance benefits post retirement to eligible employees and their families.
 
The cost of the identified benefits is measured using the actuarial valuation method and actuarial gains and losses are recognized 
in other comprehensive income during the period in which they occur. Actuarial gains or losses are not transferred to the 
statement of profit and loss in subsequent periods. The cost of the previous service is recognized as an expense on the statement 
of profit and loss at the date of the amendment of the plan regarding the insurance liabilities after the retirement pension and on 
the date of recognition of the expenses related to the previous service cost.
n. Loans
Loans are recognized at fair value and directly attributable to the borrowing costs and are subsequently recorded at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. Interest on loans is recognized during the year in which it is accrued.

o. Provision for Rehabilitation
A provision for the rehabilitation of quarries is made based on expected future costs discounted to their present values.

p. Revenue recognition
The company recognizes revenue mainly from sales of goods.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the Amounts received or that will be collected (in net after deducted returns and 
discounts) of contracts with customers and excludes amounts collected on behalf of others. Revenue is recognized when the 
Company transfers control of a product to the customer when the goods are shipped to a particular location (delivery). After 
delivery, the customer has full discretion to distribute and set the price of the sale of the goods and bear the main responsibility 
when selling the goods and also bear the risk of limitation and loss in respect of the goods. Receivables are recognized by 
the Company when the goods are delivered to the customer, representing the point at which the right to return becomes 
unconditional, as only time passes before payment is due.

Under the terms of the Company’s sales contracts, customers have the right of return. At the point of sale, the return liability and 
the corresponding adjustment are recognized for the goods to be returned. At the same time, the company is entitled to recover 
the goods when the customer exercises its right of return and thus recognizes its right in the returned goods as an amendment 
to the cost of sales.  The Company uses its accumulated historical experience to estimate the number of returns at the portfolio 
level using the expected value method.  It is highly probable that there will be no significant reversal of the cumulative income 
recognized under the fixed level of returns compared to previous years.

For some customers, goods are sold retroactively on the basis of 12 months of total sales. Sales revenue is recognized based on 
the contract price less estimated discounts. The Company uses its accumulated historical experience to estimate the discounts 
and the revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be no material reversal. Liabilities for the expected 
discounts are recovered on amounts payable to customers in respect of sales made during the year.

The Company records the consideration payable to the customer (inclusion fees and expenses for the promotion of goods) 
occurring in conjunction with the purchase of goods from the Company as a reduction of the selling price and is recognized as 
a charge if the amount payable to the customer for a separate good or service provided to the Company by the customer within 
selling and distribution expenses.

q. Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense for all financial instruments are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss using the 
effective interest method. The effective interest rate represents the rate at which the estimated future cash flows of a financial 
instrument are discounted over the life expectancy of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, for a shorter period, to 
the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Future cash flows are also estimated to take into account all 
contractual terms of the instrument.
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Interest income and interest expense are computed by applying the effective interest rate principle to the total carrying amount of 

the non-impaired financial assets (i.e., based on the amortized cost of the financial asset prior to settlement of any provision for 

expected credit loss) or to the amortized cost of the financial liability. For impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated 

by applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the impaired financial assets (i.e., the total book value less expected 

provision for credit losses). For financial assets that have been created or acquired and are impaired, the effective interest rate 

reflects the expected credit losses in determining the future cash flows expected to be received from the financial asset.

r. Fair value
Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset is to be sold or paid to convert any of the liabilities in a structured transaction 
between the market participants on the measurement date, irrespective of whether the price can be realized directly or whether 
it is estimated using another valuation technique. When estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Company takes 
into consideration when determining the price of any asset or liability whether market participants are required to take these 
factors into account at the measurement date. The fair value of the measurement and / or disclosure purposes in these financial 
statements is determined on the same basis, except for measurement measures that are similar to fair value procedures and are 
not fair value such as fair value as used in IAS 36.

In addition, fair value measurements are classified for the purposes of financial reporting to level (1) or (2) or (3) based on the 
extent to which the inputs are clear to fair value measurements and the importance of inputs to the full fair value measurements, 
which are identified as follows:

Input Level (1)	 inputs derived from quoted (unadjusted) prices of identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the 
enterprise can obtain on the measurement date;

Input Level (2)	 inputs derived from data other than quoted prices used at level 1 and observable for assets or liabilities, either 
directly or indirectly; and;

Input Level (3)	 are inputs to assets or liabilities that are not based on quoted market prices.

s. Impairment of non-financial assets:
At the reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is evidence that the asset has been impaired. If any evidence exists, 
or when an impairment test is required, the Company assesses the recoverable amount of the asset. The recoverable amount 
of the asset is the fair value of the asset or cash-generating unit less cost of sales and value in use whichever is higher and is 
determined for the individual asset, unless the asset does not generate substantially independent internal cash flows from those 
arising from other assets or assets of the company. Where the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit exceeds the 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered to be impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing the fair 
value used, future cash flows are discounted to their present fair value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of funds and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less cost of sales, recent 
transactions in the market are taken into consideration if available. If such transactions cannot be identified, the appropriate 
valuation model is used.

t. Leases
Policy applicable from January 1, 2019

The Company as lessee
The Company assesses whether contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Company recognizes a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term 
leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Company 
recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 

discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Company uses its incremental 

borrowing rate.
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Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

•	 Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

•	 Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;

•	 The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

•	 The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

•	 Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using 

effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Company re-measures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

•	 The lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease 

liability is re-measured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

•	 The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual 

value, in which cases the lease liability is re-measured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate 

(unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revise discount rate is used).

•	 A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability 

is re-measured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

The Company did not make any such amendments throughout the presented period.

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease 

transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use of asset reflects that the Company expects to exercise a 

purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts 

at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use of assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Company applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for an identified impairment 

loss as described in the ‘Property, plant and equipment’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the right-of-

use asset. The related payments are recognized as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those 

payments occurs and are included in the line ‘Other expenses’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Company as lessor
The Company enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of its investment properties.

Leases for which the Company is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are 

classified as operating leases.

When the Company is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The 

sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
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Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs 

incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognized as receivables at the amount of the Company’s net investment 

in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the 

Company’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Company applies IFRS 15 to allocate consideration under the 

contract to each component.

Policy applicable up to December 31, 2018
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Company as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognized as receivables at the amount of the Company’s net investment 

in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the 

Company’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs 

incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognized as assets of the Company at their fair value at the inception of the lease 

or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 

consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate 

of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless they 

are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalized in accordance with the Company’s general policy 

on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognized as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another 

systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. In the 

event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized as a liability. The aggregate 

benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic 

basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

u. Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position 

when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and the Company intends to either settle them on a net 

basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.



5 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAGE  50      LAFARGE CEMENT JORDAN      ANNUAL REPORT      2019

3. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards

a. Amendments with no material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group:
The following new and revised IFRSs have been adopted and are effective for financial periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2019 or thereafter in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements that did not materially affect the 
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements for the year and prior years, which may have an impact on the 
accounting treatment of future transactions and arrangements:

New and Revised IFRS Standards Amendments to New and Revised IFRS Standards

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 
2015–2017 

The Group has adopted the amendments included in the Annual 
Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle for the first time in 
the current year. The Annual Improvements include amendments to four 
Standards:

IAS 12 Income Taxes
The amendments clarify that the Group should recognize the income tax 
consequences of dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or 
equity according to where the Group originally recognized the transactions 
that generated the distributable profits. This is the case irrespective of 
whether different tax rates apply to distributed and undistributed profits.

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs
The amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding 
after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing 
becomes part of the funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating 
the capitalization rate on general borrowings.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations
The amendments clarify that when the Group obtains control of a business 
that is a joint operation, the Group applies the requirements for a business 
combination achieved in stages, including premeasuring its previously held 
interest (PHI) in the joint operation at fair value. The PHI to be re-measured 
includes any unrecognized assets, liabilities and goodwill relating to the joint 
operation.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
The amendments clarify that when a party that participates in, but does not 
have joint control of, a joint operation that is a business obtains joint control 
of such a joint operation, the Group does not re-measure its PHI in the joint 
operation.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax 
Treatments

The interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), 
tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there 
is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12. It specifically 
considers:
•	 Whether tax treatments should be considered collectively;
•	 Assumptions for taxation authorities’ examinations;
•	 The determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, 

unused tax credits and tax rates; and
•	 The effect of changes in facts and circumstances.
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New and Revised IFRS Standards Amendments to New and Revised IFRS Standards

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment 
Features with Negative Compensation and 
Modification of financial liabilities

The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether
a prepayment feature meets the SPPI condition, the party exercising the 
option may pay or receive reasonable compensation for the prepayment 
irrespective of the reason for prepayment. In other words, prepayment 
features with negative compensation do not automatically fail SPPI.

The amendment applies to annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2019, with earlier application permitted. There are specific transition 
provisions depending on when the amendments are first applied, relative to 
the initial application of IFRS 9.

Amendments to IAS 28 Investment in 
Associates and Joint Ventures: Relating to 
long-term interests in associates and joint 
ventures.

These amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that form part of the net 
investment in the associate or joint venture but to which the equity method 
is not applied.

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits Plan Amendment, Curtailment or 
Settlement

The amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits clarify the accounting for 
defined benefit plan amendments, curtailments and settlements

b. Amendments with material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group:

IFRS 16 Leases 
The Group has adopted IFRS (16), “Leases”, which replace the existing guidelines on leases, including IAS (17) “Leases”, IFRIC 
(4) “Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease “and the interpretation of the previous Interpretations Committee 
(15)” Operational leases - incentives “ and SIC 27 “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions in the Legal Form of a Lease”.

IFRS (16) was issued in January 2016 and is effective for annual periods commencing on or after January 1, 2019. IFRS (16) 
stipulates that all leases and the associated contractual rights and obligations should generally be recognized in the Group’s 
financial Position, unless the term is 12 months or less or the lease is for low value asset. Thus, the classification required under 
IAS (17) “Leases” into operating or finance leases is eliminated for Lessees. For each lease, the lessee recognizes a liability for 
the lease obligations incurred in the future. 

Correspondingly, a right to use the leased asset is capitalized, which is generally equivalent to the present value of the future 
lease payments plus directly attributable costs and which is amortized over the useful life. 

The Group has opted for the modified retrospective application permitted by IFRS (16) upon adoption of the new standard. 
During the first time application of IFRS (16) to operating leases, the right to use the leased assets was generally measured at 
the amount of lease liability, using the interest rate at the time of first time application.

The assets right of use have been measured in an amount equal to the lease obligations, and adjusted by any pre-paid or lease 
payment that is recognized in the financial position list as of December 31, 2018. No adjustments to the retained earnings, as at 
January 1st, 2019, were produced under this method. There were no low leases that required an adjustment to the right of use 
assets at the date of the initial application.

The right of use assets contains land, building and equipment as of December 31, 2019 and January 1, 2019.

The effect of applying the standard on the opening balances of right of use assets and lease obligations amounted to JD 
5,750,691 and JD 5,590,233, respectively.
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The table below shows the effect of application of IFRS 16 for each financial note as at December 31, 2019.

Consolidated Statement of Financial position
As reported IFRS 16 Impact Amounts without 

adoption of IFRS 16

JD JD JD

Right-of-use assets 3,955,578 3,955,578 -

Other debit balances 3,416,973 193,179 3,610,152

Total Impact on Assets 4,148,757

Lease liabilities 3,762,399 3,762,399

Net Impact on Liabilities 3,762,399

Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss
As reported IFRS 16 Impact Amounts without 

adoption of IFRS 16

JD JD JD

Depreciation and amortization 6,295,860 1,795,113 4,500,747

Rent expense 531,094 (1,900,014) 2,431,108

Total Impact on the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 193,179

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
As reported IFRS 16 Impact Amounts without 

adoption of IFRS 16

JD JD JD

Depreciation 6,295,860 1,795,113 4,500,747

Other debit balances 3,803,331 160,458 3,963,789

Net Cash flows from operating activities 2,148,750

Lease liabilities paid (2,125,914) (2,125,914) -

Net cash flows (used in) financing activities (2,125,914)

The Company’s leasing activities and its accounting treatment mechanism:
The Company rents land, buildings and equipment for use in its activities and usually leases for fixed periods ranging from one 
to five years, some of which may include extension options and the lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain 
a set of different terms and conditions, should not including lease contracts which do not contain any obligations and may not 
be used as collateral for the purposes of borrowing.

Up to the end of the financial year 2018, leases were classified as either an operating lease or a financial lease which and the 
amounts paid for operating lease contracts are credited to the profit or loss statement according to the straight-line method 
during the lease period.

Starting from the first of January 2019, leases were recognized as assets for use and related obligations on the date when the 
asset is ready for use by the Company, the value of each rental payment is distributed between the leasing obligations and the 
financing costs, and the financing costs are credited to the profit or loss statement during the lease period to achieve a fixed 
periodic interest rate on the remaining balance of the obligation for each period and the right of use assets are amortized during 
the productive life of the asset or the lease term, whichever is shorter according to the straight-line method.

The assets and liabilities arising from the leases are initially measured on the basis of the present value, and the lease obligations 
include the net present value of the following rental payments:
•	 Fixed payments (including built-in fixed payments) minus rental incentives receivable;
•	 Variable lease payments based on index or rate;
•	 Amounts expected to be paid by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
•	 The exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and;
•	 Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Rental payments are deducted using the implied lease interest rate or the tenant’s additional borrowing price, if they are not 
available, which is the rate at which the lessee must pay to borrow the funds needed to obtain an asset of comparable value in 
a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.
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Right of use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
•	 The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
•	 Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
•	 Any initial direct costs, and return costs (renovation and restoration).

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense 
in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT-equipment 
and small items of office furniture.

In applying IFRS (16) for the first time, the Group has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:
•	 The use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics 
•	 Reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous 
•	 The accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at January 1, 2019 as short-term leases
•	 The exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application, and
•	 The use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract     contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

The Company has also elected not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial application. Instead, 
for contracts entered into before the transition date the Group relied on its assessment made applying IAS (17) and IFRIC 4 
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease.

c. New and revised International Financial Reporting Standards in issue but not yet effective:
At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised 
IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

New and Revised Standards Amendments to New and Revised IFRSs

Amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of 
financial statement”
(Effective form on January 1,2020)

These amendments are related to definition of material. The new definition states 
that, ‘Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably 
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide 
financial information about a specific reporting entity.’

Amendment to IFRS 3 “Business 
Combinations”
(Effective form on January 1, 2020).

These amendments clarify the definition of business as the International Accounting 
Standards Board published the Conceptual Financial Reporting Framework. This 
includes revised definitions of assets and liabilities as well as new guidance on 
measurement, de-recognition, presentation and disclosure.

In addition to the amended conceptual framework, the IASB issued amendments to 
the guidelines on the conceptual framework in the IFRS Standards, which contain 
amendments to IFRS 2, 3, 6 and 14 and IAS 1, 34, 37 and 38) and IFRIC 12, 
Interpretation 19, Interpretations 20 and 22 and Interpretations of the Standing 
Committee for the Interpretation of Standards No. 32 in order to update those 
statements with regard to references and quotations from the framework or to refer 
to a reference to a different version of the conceptual framework.

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”
(Effective form on January 1, 2022).

It provides a more consistent measurement and presentation approach to all 
insurance contracts. These requirements are aimed at achieving a consistent, 
principled accounting objective for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 
Insurance Contracts.

IFRS 17 requires measurement of insurance liabilities at the present value of the 
liability.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements and IAS 28 
“Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures (2011)”
(Effective date deferred indefinitely. Adoption 
is still permitted).

These amendments are related to the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets 
from and investor to its associate or joint venture.

Management anticipates that these new standards, interpretations and amendments will be adopted in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements as and when they are applicable and adoption of these new standards, interpretations and amendments 
may have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group in the period of initial application. 
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4. Significant Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Uncertainty
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the adoption of accounting policies requires the management 

to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities and the 

disclosure of contingent liabilities. These estimates and judgments also affect revenue, expenses and provisions in general and 

expected credit losses. In particular, the Company’s management is required to make judgments to estimate the amounts and 

timing of future cash flows. These mentioned estimates are based on multiple hypotheses and factors with varying degrees of 

estimation and uncertainty. Actual results may differ from estimates as a result of changes in these conditions and circumstances 

in the future.

Judgments, estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically. The effect of the change in estimates is recognized in the 

financial period in which the change has occurred and only if the change affects the same financial period. Moreover, the effect 

of the change in estimates is recognized in the financial period in which the change has occurred and in future periods in case 

the change affects the financial period and future financial periods.

Management believes that its estimates in the consolidated financial statements are reasonable. The key estimates used by 

management in applying the Company’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in 

the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Useful life of tangible assets and intangible assets
The management periodically re-estimates the useful life of tangible assets and intangible assets for the purpose of calculating 

the annual depreciation and amortization based on the general condition of those assets and estimated future useful lives. The 

impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year.

Impairment of tangible assets and intangible assets
The management reviews the fair value of tangible and intangible assets which are stated at cost when there are any events 

or changes in the circumstances for the purpose of determining any impairment and recording the impairment loss in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss. Due to the uncertainty in the market conditions and the Company’s inability to predict 

the results of the insolvency declaration, the management was unable to determine the fair value of some of the tangible assets 

and its related cash flows on the medium and long term.

Impairment of held for sale assets
The management reviews the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets which are stated at fair value when there are any 

events or changes in the circumstances for the purpose of determining the impairment value and recording the impairment 

losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Post-retirement health insurance obligations

The Company records the post-retirement health insurance provisions and the related expenses based on actuarial studies and 

assumptions. Interest and related expenses pertaining to the obligation are recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss and the changes in the assumptions are recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill
Goodwill impairment testing is performed at the consolidated financial statements date, and the value of goodwill is reduced if 

there are any indicators that the value of goodwill has been impaired and that is when the estimated related recoverable amount 

for the cash generating unit (s) or fair value is less than the recorded amount for the cash generating units (s). The impairment 

value is recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Provision for rehabilitation of quarries and environment protection 
The Company calculates the rehabilitation of quarries and environmental protection provision and the 
related expenses based on a technical study for the present value of future obligation. The related 
expenses are recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Provision for restructuring
The company calculates the provision for restructuring and the related expenses according to the International Financial Reporting 
Standards requirements and based on to the Board of Directors approvals when the plan is announced to the employees. The 
provision is estimated based on the arrangements with the relevant parties. 

Income tax and deferred tax assets
The fiscal year is charged its related income tax expense in accordance with the regulations, laws and accounting standards. 
The Company’s ability to benefit from the deferred tax assets is evaluated at the end of each reporting period and it is written 
off in case the Company does not have ability to benefit from the deferred tax assets in the future. The loss is recorded in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Lawsuit provision
A provision is booked to meet any potential litigation obligations based on the legal study prepared by the Company’s legal 
counsel that identifies potential risks in the future and periodically reviews the study.

Assets and liabilities presented at cost
Management reviews the assets and liabilities at cost periodically for the purpose of estimating any impairment in value, any 
impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year.

Fair value measurement and valuation procedures
When estimating the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, the Company uses available observable market data. In 
case of the absence of level 1 inputs, the Company conducts evaluations using appropriate valuation models to determine the 
fair value of financial instruments.

Calculation of provision for expected credit losses
The management is required to use important judgments and estimates to estimate the amounts and timing of future cash 
flows and to estimate the risk of significant increase in credit risk for financial assets after the initial recognition and future 
measurements information for expected credit losses.

The expected credit loss is measured as an allowance equivalent to the expected credit loss over the life of the asset.

Determining the number and relative weight of forward looking scenarios for each type of products / market and the identification 
of future information relevant to each scenario
When measuring the expected credit loss, the Company uses reasonable and reliable future information based on the assumptions 
of the future movement of the various economic factors and how these economic factors affect each other.

Probability of default
The probability of default is a key input in measuring the expected credit loss. The probability of default is considered an estimate 
of the probability of default over a given period of time, which includes the calculation of historical data, assumptions and 
expectations relating to future circumstances.

Loss given default
Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising from default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows 
due and those that the financer expects to collect, taking into account cash flows from collaterals and credit adjustments.

Revenue recognition 
The Company’s management uses significant estimates and assumptions to determine the amount and timing of revenue 
recognition under IFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”.

Lease payments’ discount 
Lease payments are discounted using the incremental borrowing rate “IBR”. The management applied the principles and 
assumption to determine the incremental borrowing rate at the beginning of the lease period.
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5. Cash at Banks
This item consists of the following:

December 31, 

2019 2018

JD JD

Cash at banks 3,398,078 991,826

6. Accounts Receivable and Checks under Collection
This item consists of the following:

December 31, 

2019 2018

JD JD

Local sales receivables 9,868,233 18,327,763

Foreign sales receivables 1,920,688 2,303,535

Due from related parties (Note 29) 220,088 173,839

Other receivables 33,185 154,298

Checks under collection 19,266,611 11,110,226

31,308,805 32,069,661

Provision for expected credit loss - accounts receivable * (9,078,249) (9,749,151)

22,230,556 22,320,510

* The movement on the provision for expected credit loss – accounts receivable is as follows:

2019 2018

JD JD

Balance - beginning of the year 9,749,151 4,713,591

Effect of application of IFRS 9 - Note 3 - 4,856,370

Adjusted Balance 9,749,151 9,569,961

Additions during the year 245,032 300,906

Accounts receivables written off during the year * (915,934) (121,716)

Balance at the End of the Year 9,078,249 9,749,151
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The Company has adopted a policy of dealing with only creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial 
loss from defaults. The following are the accounts receivable due but not impaired:

December 31, 

2019 2018

JD JD

Current receivables not due yet 1,374,035 11,091,699

30 days  - 60 days 10,565,732 2,847,287

61 days – 90 days 1,130,234 2,511,656

91 days – 120 days 1,386,637 1,767,531

More than 120 days 16,852,167 13,851,488

Total 31,308,805 32,069,661

*  The Board of Director approval to write-off these accounts receivable during 2019.
 
The Company studies the aging of the receivables and the sufficiency of the booked provision at the end of each financial period.

There are credit concentrations in the Company’s account receivables for the first ten major customers that represent 24% of the 
total accounts receivable as of December 31, 2019 (37% of the total accounts receivable as of December 2018).

7. Inventory and Spare Parts

This item consists of the following:

December 31, 

2019 2018

JD JD

Spare parts * 14,121,708 15,396,281

Finished goods 5,178,846 5,043,182

Work in process 6,427,125 12,454,261

Raw materials 2,743,982 4,156,477

Fuel 4,006,101 3,454,487

32,477,762 40,504,688

Provision for slowing moving items ** (12,623,485) (5,763,073)

19,854,277 34,741,615

*  	 According to the Board of Directors decision, the company transferred spare parts belonging to the second production line 
in the Fuhais plant in an amount of JD 572,923 to held for sale assets.
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**  	The movement on the provision for slow moving items is as follows:

2019 2018

JD JD

Balance - beginning of the year 5,763,073 5,714,965

Provision during the year - net 6,860,412 48,108

     Balance – End of the Year 12,623,485 5,763,073

8. Other Debit Balances
This item consists of the following:

December 31, 

2019 2018

JD JD

Contractors’ receivables and advances 922,144  1,785,969 

Prepaid expenses 1,036,404  1,034,511 

Refundable deposits 781,713  776,213 

Sales tax deposits 725,219 563,050

Others 337,851  273,186 

3,803,331 4,432,929

9. Held for Sale Assets
In accordance with the decision of the Company’s Board of Directors to sell the second line of the Al-Fuhais plant during the year 
2019, the property and equipment belonging to the second production line at the Fuhais plant in addition to the related spare 
parts were reclassified to held for sale assets in the amount of JD 10,769,754. The reclassification occurred at the net carrying 
amount or the net realizable value, whichever is lower.

During the year 2019, the Company recorded an impairment expense for the held for sale assets in an amount of JD 3,669,754 
and the net carrying value reached JD 7.1 million. This was done according to a study prepared by the management that reflects 
the fair value of those assets in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
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11. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
This item consists of the following:

December 31, 

2019 2018

JD JD

Quoted Investment

Mining Investment Company 18,195 22,150

18,195 22,150

Unquoted Investment

Jordanian Investment and South Development Company 114,299 114,299

Chemical and Mining Industries Company 35,000 35,000

Rashadiya Employees’ Association 500 500

149,799 149,799

167,994 171,949

12. Goodwill
This item represents goodwill amount of JD 2,495,945 relating to the acquisition of Al Aloul Group that took place in 2008. For 

impairment testing purposes, goodwill acquired through business combination has been allocated to the ready mix (concrete) 

operating and reportable segment (cash-generating unit).

On December 31, 2019, management performed its goodwill impairment test. The recoverable amount of the ready mix 

(concrete) cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based 

on the 2019 financial budget approved by management. Cash flow projections beyond 2019 are estimated using a 3% to 5% 

growth rate, which management believes is reflective of the average growth rate in the region. The discount rate applied to cash 

flow projections is 8%, which represents the weighted-average cost of capital for the Group, taking into consideration the risks 

specific to the ready mix (concrete) segment.

As a result of this analysis, no impairment loss was resulted in the ready mix (concrete) segment.

The calculation of value in use is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

- Gross margin	

- Discount rates	

- Growth rate used to estimate cash flows beyond the budget period

With regard to the assessment of value in use, management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the above key 

assumptions would cause the carrying value of the unit to materially exceed its recoverable amount.
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13. Employees Housing and Car Loans
This item consists of the following:

December 31, 

2019 2018

JD JD

Employee housing loans * 771,157 1,617,224

Employee car loans ** 471 11,543

771,628 1,628,767

*	 The Company granted its classified employees, who have been in service with the Company for not less than five years, interest-free housing 
loans at a maximum amount of JD 22,000 per employee. The loans are repayable in monthly installments, deducted from the employees’ 
monthly salaries over a period not to exceed 15 years. These loans are guaranteed by a mortgage over the real-estate.

**	 The Company granted its classified employees interest-free car loans ranging from a minimum amount of JD 7,000 to JD 35,000 depending on the 
employee’s grade. The loans are repayable in monthly installments, deducted from the employees’ monthly salaries over a period not to exceed 8 
years. These loans are guaranteed by a mortgage over the financed car. Housing and car loans are initially recorded at fair value which is calculated 
by discounting the monthly installments to their present value using an interest rate of 8.5% and 8.5%, respectively, which approximates the 
interest rate for similar commercial loans, and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

14. Right of Use Assets / Lease Liability

1. Right of use assets
The Company leases several assets including land and building. The average lease term is 5 years. The movement for right-of-
use assets during the year 2019 is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

JD

Beginning balance 5,750,691

Add:  Additions during the year -

Less: Depreciation during the year (1,795,113)

Balance as at December 31, 2019 3,955,578

Amounts recorded in the consolidated profit or loss statement:
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

JD

Depreciation for the year 1,795,113

Interest for the year 298,080

    Lease expense during the year 2,093,193

2. Lease liability
  The movement for lease the liability during the 2019 was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

JD

Beginning balance 5,590,233

Add:  Additions during the year -

 Interest during the year 298,080

Less: Paid during the year (2,125,914)

         Balance as at December 31, 2019 3,762,399
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The following is an analysis of the maturity of lease obligations as at December 31, 2019:

Lease Liability Maturity Analysis

December 31, 2019

JD

Less than one year 1,578,966

From one to five years 2,183,433

3,762,399

The undiscounted lease liability amounted to JD 4,745,185 as at December 31, 2019. The maturity analysis is as follows:

Undiscounted Lease liability Maturity Analysis

December 31, 2019

JD

Less than one year 2,041,241

From one to five years 2,703,944

4,745,185

15. Income Tax

a. Income tax provision:
      The movement on the income tax provision is as follows:

2019 2018

JD JD

Balance – beginning of the year 670,847 858,689

Income tax for the year 286,951 702,947

Income tax paid during the year (716,135) (890,789)

     Balance – End of the Year 241,663 670,847

b. Income tax expense:
The income tax expense shown in the consolidated profit or loss is represented follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018

JD JD

Income tax expense during the year 286,951 702,947

Impairment of deferred tax assets 16,148,430 5,995,505

16,435,381 6,698,452

 
-	A final tax settlement has been reached with the Income and Sales Tax Department up to the year 2016. Income tax returns 

have been filed for the year 2017 and 2018. However, the Income and Sales Tax Department did not audit these returns and 
no final settlement has been reached yet.

-	A tax settlement has been reached with the income and sales tax department up to the year 2016 for the subsidiaries (Arab 
Concrete Ready Mix and Arabian Specialized Transport Company), also income tax returns have been filled for the year 2017 and 
2018. However, the income and sales tax department did not audit these returns and no final settlement has been reached yet.

-	The income tax provision was recorded for the subsidiaries and in the management’s opinion, the recorded income tax provision 
is sufficient to meet any tax commitments as of December 31, 2019.
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c.The reconciliation between the taxable profit and the accounting profit is as follows:

2019 2018

JD JD

Accounting (loss) (48,681,746) (27,883,588)

Non-deductible revenues (expenses) 1,588,714 (2,287,392)

Taxable (loss) (47,093,032) (30,170,980)

Relates to

Total (loss) excluding Aqaba - Holding Company (48,841,669) (29,357,613)

Taxable income excluding Aqaba - Subsidiary 1,859,432 4,957,793

(Loss) taxable income for Aqaba - Holding Company (271,513) (170,397)

Taxable income for Aqaba - Subsidiary 160,718 177,120

Statutory income tax rate for Holding Company 

   excluding Aqaba 15% 24%

Statutory income tax rate for Subsidiary excluding Aqaba 15% 24%

Statutory income tax rate for Holding Company - Aqaba 5% 5%

Statutory income tax rate for Subsidiary - Aqaba 5% 5%

Income tax (expense) (286,951) (702,947)

d. Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax asset balances and transactions as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are as follows:  

Consolidated statement of 
financial position

Consolidated 
statement of profit or loss

2019 * 2018 2019 * 2018

JD JD JD JD

Provision for lawsuits against the Company 10,534 860,534 (850,000) (348,034)

Allowance for expected credit loss 1,113,556 1,473,613 (367,376) (118,061)

Provision for rehabilitation of quarries and

   environment protection
- 204,239 (204,239) (84,098)

Employees’ vacation accrual 4,830 117,151 (112,320) (46,250)

Provision for slow moving spare parts 5,185 856,209 (851,023) (350,421)

Other provisions 8,711 9,622 (293) (14,582)

Accumulated income tax losses * 61,856 13,831,734 (13,763,179) (5,034,059)

     Total 1,204,672 17,353,102 (16,148,430) (5,995,505)

*	 The Company wrote off deferred tax assets belonging to the Jordan Cement Factories Company (Parent Company) in an amount of JD 14.3 
million during the year 2019, because of the uncertainty in the Company’s ability to benefit from these assets in the near future. The write 
off was shown in the income tax expense for the year 2019.

16. Due to Banks
This item represents credit facilities utilized as at 31 December 2019. The Group has credit facilities from the Housing Bank 
for Trade and Finance with a ceiling of JD 9.5 million, the Arab Bank with a ceiling of JD 8 million, Societe General Bank with a 
ceiling of 6 million dinars, the Jordanian Kuwaiti Bank with a ceiling of JD 2 million, the Arab Banking Corporation with a ceiling of  
JD 6 million and Audi Bank with a celling of JD one million. The annual interest rates on these facilities range from 7.8% to 9%. 
The above facilities are guaranteed by the Company’s signature on the contracts.
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17. Accounts Payables
This item consists of the following:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Short term 
payables

Long term 
payables

Short term 
payables

Long term 
payables

JD JD JD JD

Trade payables 37,666,793 - 27,450,652 -

Due to related parties (Note 29) 20,703,012 - 19,880,354 -

58,369,805 - 47,331,006 -

18. Other Credit Balances
This item consists of the following:

December 31,  

2019 2018

JD JD

Unpaid dividends to shareholders  5,246,443 5,899,920

Provision for lawsuits against the Company * 8,303,924 10,070,224

Housing fund and health insurance deposits  251,897 98,757

Rehabilitation of quarries and environment protection **  1,334,171 1,303,763

Accrued payables and expenses  409,830 864,264

Provision for other commitments  272,608 269,307

Provision for employees’ vacations  392,612 629,353

Others  659,997 608,475

16,871,482 19,744,063

* The movement on the lawsuits provision is as follows:

2019 2018

JD JD

Balance - beginning of the year 10,070,224 5,057,120

Provision during the year 3,210,012 13,338,115

Paid from the provision during the year (4,976,312) (8,325,011)

     Balance - End of the Year 8,303,924 10,070,224

**	A provision is made for the rehabilitation of quarries, based on future estimated expenditures discounted using a discount rate 
of 5.7%.

- The movement on the provision for rehabilitation is as follows:

2019 2018

JD JD

Balance - beginning of the year 1,303,763 1,270,163

Provision during the year 30,408 33,600

   Balance - End of the Year 1,334,171 1,303,763
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19. Loan from a Related Party 
The Company signed a number of non-interest bearing loan agreements with Lafarge – France S.A.S (Parent Company) in an 
amount of JD 24.5 million. During the year 2019, JD 9.5 million became due and were not settled by the Company.

20. Loans
The details of this item is as follows:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

JD JD JD JD

Arab Bank * 7,500,000 7,500,000 5,000,000 12,500,000

Housing Bank For Trade and Finance ** 2,250,000 750,000 1,500,000 2,250,000

Societe Generale Bank Jordan *** 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 1,000,000

Al Etehad Bank **** - - 193,723 -

11,250,000 8,250,000 8,193,723 15,750,000

*  	 On October 3, 2017, Jordan Cement Factories signed a loan agreement with Arab Bank for JD 20 million at an interest 
rate of 7.875% payable on 8 equal semi-annual installments of JD 2,500,000. The first installment is due on October 2, 
2018 and is due the last of which is on April 2, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company signed an 
agreement with the bank that changes the due date of the installment dated April 2, 2019 amounting to JD 2.5 million to 
become due on January 1, 2020, while the rest of the installments remained unchanged.

**    On August 8, 2016, the Jordan Cement Factories signed a loan agreement with the Housing Bank for Trade and Finance at 
the amount of JD 6 million at an interest rate of 7.7%, payable on 8 equal semi-annual installments of JD 750 thousand. 
The first installment is due on July 1, 2017, and the last on January 2021.

***  	 On June 13, 2016, Jordan Cement Factories signed a loan agreement with Societe Generale Bank Jordan for JD 4 million 
at an interest rate of 9% payable on 8 equal semi-annual installments of JD 500 thousand. The first installment is due on 
June 30, 2017 and the last on December 30, 2020.

**** 	The Jordan Cement Factories Company signed a loan agreement with Al Etihad Bank on June 28, 2018 at an amount of 
JD 325,322 at an interest rate of 9% payable on 18 equal monthly installments of JD 18,350. The first installment is due 
on June 30, 2018; the latter is due on November 30, 2019.

-	The Company defaulted on paying some of the outstanding installments as at December 31, 2019. Moreover, the Company 
restructured some of the loans during the year and the subsequent period.

The movement on loans during the year is as follows:

Balance at the 
Beginning of the Year Additions Settlements Balance at the 

End of the Year 

JD JD JD JD

Arab Bank 17,500,000 - (2,500,000) 15,000,000

Housing Bank For Trade and Finance 3,750,000 - (750,000) 3,000,000

Societe Generale Bank 2,500,000 - (1,000,000) 1,500,000

Al Etihad Bank 193,723 - (193,723) -

23,943,723 - (4,443,723) 19,500,000

-  The above loans are secured by the Company’s signature on the contracts.
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21. Provision for Restructuring
The Company terminated the services of about 200 employees during the year 2019, according to the decision of the Company’s 
board of directors in accordance with the collective labor contract agreement organized in accordance with the provisions of the 
Jordanian Labor Law No. 8 of 1996 and its amendments between the Jordan Cement Factories Company and the Labor Union 
on November 25, 2019. The agreement states that the Company is obliged to pay a salary of 1.8 months for each year of service 
for those who reached the early retirement age, according to the Social Security Law, with a minimum of JD 50 thousand and 
a maximum of JD 150 thousand. The remaining balance as at December 31, 2019 represents the provision for a number of 
employees whose payment was not finalized during the year 2019. 
                
The movement at the expense of the employee termination and restructuring of the Company is as follows:

2019 2018

JD JD

Balance - beginning of the year 1,317,672 10,817,672

Provision (release) during the year 14,883,520 (9,500,000)

Paid from the provision during the year (14,125,686) -

Balance - End of the Year 2,075,506 1,317,672

22. Post-Retirement Health Insurance Benefits Obligations
conditions. Under the plan, employees are entitled to retirement benefits on attainment of a retirement age of 55 years for 
females and 60 years for males. No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.

Retirees (until their deaths) and their families (until the death of the spouse and until the maximum age of coverage for the 
children) pay a contribution of:

2.5% of social security salary for retiree with a minimum of JD 6 per month.
20% of the families’ medical cost with a maximum of JD 200 per medical case. 

Changes in the present value of the obligation for employees’ post-retirement health insurance benefits were as follows: 

2019 2018

JD JD

Balance - beginning of the year 28,335,000 26,295,000

Addition during the year * 5,542,417 1,374,000

Actuarial losses 8,320,685 2,527,000

Paid during the year (1,841,430) (1,861,000)

    Balance – End of the Year 40,356,672 28,335,000

*	The following table summarizes the components of the employees’ post-retirement health insurance net expense recognized 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2019 2018

JD JD

Current service cost 4,460,135 156,000

Interest cost 1,082,282 1,218,000

5,542,417 1,374,000
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The principal assumptions used in determining post-retirement health insurance provision for the Company’s plan are shown below:

2019 2018

Discount Rate 3.8% 3.99%

Long term medical cost inflation rate 3.50% 3.50%

Expected rate of salaries increase 2% 4.50%

Reevaluation of pension rate 2% 2%

Mortality / Disability age
88-90 for female

60-64 for male

88-90 for female

60-64 for male

Turnover rates
1% a year up to

50 years old

1% a year up to

 50 years old

Retirement age:

Male 60 60

Female 55 55

Maximum age of coverage for children 

Female 27 27

Male 23 23

Annual premium – cement employees 462 437

Annual premium – retired employees 441 438

Contribution and co-payments for family’s member 58.5 64.4

Social security salary 7,263 7,169

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the present value of the obligation for employees’ post-retirement health 
insurance benefits and the current service cost and interest cost on obligation to reasonably possible changes in the discount rate.

For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2019

Increase
/decrease

in medical costs

Effect on the present 
value of the obligation

Effect on current service 
cost and  interest cost on 

the obligation

JD JD

+ 5% (2,825,000) (63,000)

- 5% 2,825,000 63,000

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2018

+ 5% (1,703,000) (30,000)

- 5% 1,703,000 30,000

The cumulative amount of actuarial losses amounted to JD 23,963,685 as of December 31, 2019 (JD 15,643,000 as of 
December 31, 2018). 

23. Owners’ Equity
This item consists of the following:

-	Paid up capital
The authorized and paid up capital of the Company is JD 60,444,460 as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 
divided into 60,444,460 shares at JD one par value per share.

-	 Treasury stocks
This amount represents the value of the stocks that are owned by the Arabian Concrete Supply Company (Subsidiary 
Company) in the capital of Jordan Cement Factories Company in the amount of JD 323 which were purchased on 2012, 
some of this stocks have been sold during 2016.
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-	Statutory reserve
The amounts collected in this account represent the annual income before income tax of 10% for previous years in accordance with 
the Companies Law and is not distributable to shareholders. The approval and recommendation of the Board of Directors of the Company 
were obtained at their meeting held on January 29, 2018, to eliminate part of the accumulated losses of the Company by JD 27 million 
using the Company’s statutory reserve. The Company’s General Assembly decided at its Extraordinary Meeting to approve this decision on  
June 30, 2018, The share of the accumulated losses in full reserve amounting to JD 27 million was reduced to zero as at 
December 31, 2019.

-	 Voluntary reserve
The accumulated amounts in this account represent the annual profits of the previous years up to a maximum of 20%. The 
reserve is used for purposes determined by the Board of Directors and the General Authority is entitled to distribute it in whole 
or in part as dividends to shareholders. The approval and recommendation of the Board of Directors of the Company were 
obtained at their meeting held on July 13, 2017, to offset the accumulated losses of the Company amounting to JD 12,399,640 
by the use of the Company’s voluntary reserve. The Company approved this decision at its Extraordinary Meeting and ratified 
this resolution at its meeting held on September 19, 2017.

24. Selling and Marketing Expenses
This item consists of the following: 

2019 2018

JD JD

Salaries and wages 1,144,709 1,386,347

Group’s contribution to social security 133,099 147,481

Other 557,876 652,400

1,835,684 2,186,228

25. General and Administrative Expenses
This item consists of the following: 

2019 2018

JD JD

Salaries, wages and other benefits 3,308,009 3,756,029

Contribution to social security 352,711 437,334

Contribution to employees’ saving fund 216,170 224,091

Contribution to employees unity fund 20,540 22,035

Legal and consulting fees 2,937,582 1,425,118

Franchise fees - Lafarge (parent) 948,651 840,647

Travel and transportation 50,925 90,680

Depreciation 231,424 88,221

Advertisements and exhibitions 46,739 80,337

Post and telephone 29,714 54,227

Insurance 32,631 28,889

Stationery, subscriptions and printings 37,019 34,283

Fuel 43,631 49,057

Donations 98,804 250,257

Rent 144,736 165,674

Training 21,044 53,650

Maintenance 23,812 30,824

Computer expenses 254,009 184,068

Hospitality 18,921 47,418

Others 661,313 956,526

9,478,385 8,819,365
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26. Material Partly-Owned Subsidiaries 
The following represents financial information for the subsidiaries in which the non-controlling interests is significant:

Company Name Country
of origin

Operating 
Activities

Non-controlling interest

2019 2018

Arabian Concrete Supply Company Jordan
Producing and trading in 

ready mix cement
49% 49%

The following represent summarized financial information for the subsidiary. Information was prepared before eliminating 
transactions with related parties:

2019 2018

JD JD

Significant accumulated non-controlling interests 

Arabian Concrete Supply Company 5,146,993 4,512,695

2019 2018

JD JD

Significant profits attributable to non-controlling interest

Arabian Concrete Supply Company 70,798 1,076,545

a. Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018

Arab Concrete Supply Company

JD JD

Current assets 21,675,750 19,615,685

Non-current assets 9,240,249 4,799,785

Current liabilities (21,940,720) (18,700,884)

Total equity 8,975,279 5,714,586

Non-Controlling interests share from equity 5,146,993 4,512,695
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b. Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss:

20182019

Arab Concrete Supply Company 

JDJD

40,310,46238,367,266Sales

(34,722,967)(34,455,880)Cost of Sales

5,587,4953,911,386Gross Profit

(643,461)(612,544)Selling and distribution expenses

(1,827,425)(1,767,006)General and administrative expenses

3,116,6091,531,836Operating Income

(30,000)-Lawsuits provision

(512,315)(926,474)Financing cost

245,48423,666Gain from sale property and equipment

27,743(167,491)Other income - net

2,847,521461,537Earnings Before Income Tax

(620,390)(286,951)Income tax expenses

2,227,131174,586Profit for the Year

2,227,131174,586Total comprehensive income for the year

1,076,54570,798Non-controlling interest Share

c. Summarized statement of cash flows:

20182019

Arab Concrete Supply Company

JDJD

Cash flows

(2,033,381)2,955,788Operating activities

156,037(1,085,655)Investing activities

1,769,897(2,295,538)Financing activities

(107,447)(425,405)Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
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27. Segmental Information

a. Sectoral information
The details of this item are as follows:

For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2019

Cement Ready-made 
concrete

Settlement 
of current 
accounts

Total

JD JD JD JD

Revenue:

Sales 25,064,758 38,367,266 - 63,432,024

Internal sales between production units 12,921,726 - (12,921,726) -

Total 37,986,484 38,367,266 (12,921,726) 63,432,024

Business results:

(Loss) profit before tax (49,113,183) 431,437 - (48,681,746)

Income tax (expense) (16,148,430) (286,951) - (16,435,381)

(Loss) income for the year (65,261,613) 144,486 - (65,117,127)

Other segment information:

Capital expenditure 1,677,539 2,255,954 - 3,933,493

Depreciation 4,109,712 391,035 - 4,500,747

Interest income 210,652 - - 210,652

Interest expense (4,900,693) (926,474) - (5,827,167)

For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2018

Revenue:

Sales 21,362,328 40,310,462 - 61,672,790

Internal sales between production units 12,006,260 - (12,006,260) -

Total 33,368,588 40,310,462 (12,006,260) 61,672,790

Business results:

(Loss) profit before tax (30,701,010) 2,817,421 - (27,883,588)

(Expense) income tax (6,078,062) (620,390) - (6,698,452)

(Loss) for the year (36,779,071) 2,197,031 - (34,582,040)

Other segment information:

Capital expenditure 918,534 189,120 - 1,107,654

Depreciation 5,282,362 413,092 - 5,695,454

Interest income 128,997 - - 128,997

Interest expense (4,497,117) (512,315) - (5,009,432)

December 31, 2019
Cement Ready-made 

concrete Total

JD JD JD

Assets and Liabilities 

Segment assets 90,565,788 34,379,643 124,945,431

Segment liabilities 177,184,074 17,979,580 195,163,654

December 31, 2018

Assets and Liabilities 

Segment assets 129,280,900 28,909,198 157,190,098

Segment liabilities 136,641,748 17,888,306 154,530,054
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b. Geographical Information
Revenue, profit, assets and liabilities by geographical segment are as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Jordan Except 
Aqaba Aqaba Total

JD JD JD

Revenue:

Sales 60,820,913 2,611,112 63,432,024

Business Results:

(Loss) before tax (48,318,100) (363,646) (48,681,746)

Income tax expense (16,427,345) (8,036) (16,435,381)

(Loss) for the Year (64,745,445) (371,682) (65,117,127)

Other Segment Information:

Capital expenditure 3,893,076 40,417 3,933,493

Depreciation 4,498,611 2,136 4,500,747

Interest income 210,652 - 210,652

Interest expense (5,825,988) (1,179) (5,827,167)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenue

Sales 58,820,698 2,852,092 61,672,790

Business Results:

(Loss) before tax (27,842,353) (41,235) (27,883,588)

Income tax expense (6,689,597)  (8,855) (6,698,452)

(Loss) for the Year (34,531,950) (50,091) (34,582,040)

Other segment information:

Capital expenditure 1,078,777 28,877 1,107,654

Depreciation 5,693,949 1,506 5,695,455

Interest income 128,997 - 128,997

Interest expense 5,009,432 - 5,009,432

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Assets and Liabilities 

Segment assets 123,054,641 1,890,790 124,945,431

Segment liabilities 193,602,708 1,560,946 195,163,654

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Assets and Liabilities 

Segment assets 154,863,263 2,326,835 157,190,098

Segment liabilities 153,131,181 1,398,873 154,530,054
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28. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
This item consists of the following:

For the Year Ended  
December 31,

2019 2018

JD JD

Letters of guarantee 3,646,955 5,192,636

Bills of collection 603,274 920,189

- The future contractual commitments were as follows:

December 31,  

2019 2018

JD JD

Purchase of property and equipment - 341,783

Purchase of raw materials 9,981,960 5,218,000

Other purchases 14,840,000 14,840,000

Operating lease contracts - 6,688,210

29. Related Parties Balances and Transactions
a. The related party transactions during the year were as follows:

For the Year Ended  
December 31,

2019 2018

Consolidated statement of profit or loss items: JD JD

Expenses 1,590,465 1,375,562

Consolidated statement of financial position items:

Related Parties Total

Sister Companies Parent Company 2019 2018

JD JD JD JD

Accounts receivable 220,088 - 220,088 173,839

Accounts payable * 10,746,112 9,956,900 20,703,012 19,880,354

Short-term loan - 24,500,000 24,500,000 -

*  The above payables do not bear interest and has no fixed payment schedule.

b. 	The salaries, bonuses and other benefits of the executive management amounted to JD 1,386,124 
for the year ended December 31, 2019 (JD 1,746,110 for the year ended December 31, 2018).

30. Lawsuits
There are lawsuits held against the Company and its subsidiaries at an amount of JD 8,346,249 represented in legal lawsuits 
related to the Company’s operations, and in the opinion of the Company’s management and its legal counsel, the lawsuits 
provision booked at an amount of JD 8.3 Million is sufficient to meet any commitments related to the lawsuits and claims.

There is a pending lawsuit at the Court of Law between the Jordan Cement Factories Company and the Energy and Minerals 
Regulatory Commission regarding the clay mining fees in in Al-Fujaij area (Al-Rashadiya) in amount of JD 2.3 million. A provision 
was recorded for the entire lawsuit value as at December 31, 2019.
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31. Loss per Share for the Year
Loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss for the year over the weighted average common stock and it is calculated 
as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018

JD JD

Loss for the year attributable to the 

    Company’s shareholders
(65,187,925) (35,658,585)

Share Share

Weighted Average Common Shares 60,444,460 60,444,460

JD / Share JD / Share

(Loss) per Share - (Basic and Diluted) (1.08) (0.59)

32. Comparative Figures
The Company has amended and reclassified certain comparative figures for the year 2018 to conform to the figures for the year 
ended December 31, 2019. Noting that there was not impact to these adjustments on the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2019.

33. Risk Management
The Company adopts financial policies for managing the various risks within a specific strategy.  Moreover, the Company’s 
management controls and monitors risks and performs the optimal strategic allocation of financial assets and financial liabilities.  
Risks include interest rate risk, market risk, credit risk, and foreign currency risk.

a.	Capital Risk Management
The Company manages its capital to ensure its ability to continue as a going concern and maximize the return to stakeholders 
through achieving an optimal balance between equity and debt.  Moreover, no change in the Company’s overall policy has 
occurred since the prior year.

b.	Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risks, also referred to as funding risk, is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
its obligations. The company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, continuously monitoring actual and 
forecast cash flows and aligning the maturities of financial assets with financial liabilities.

The Company suffers from a deficit in its working capital as of December 31, 2019 and as of December 31, 2018 as follows:

December 31,

2019 2018

JD JD

Current assets 56,386,242 62,486,880

Less: Current liabilities (144,373,549) (110,445,054)

     (Deficit) in Working Capital (87,987,307) (47,958,174)

The Company manages liquidity risk continuously through managing its cash flows and through the financing from 
banks, noting that an amount of JD 45.5 Million of the current liabilities are related to the Company’s related parties as at  
December 31, 2019 (JD 19.8 Million as at December 31, 2018). The management’s plan to rectify this situation is detailed in 
note (34).
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c.	Credit Risk
Credit risk relates to the other party’s inability to meet its contractual obligations leading to the incurrence of losses by the 
Company.  Moreover, the Company adopts a policy of dealing with creditworthy parties in order to mitigate the financial losses 
arising from defaults.

The Company’s financial assets consisting mainly of receivables and other debit balances, financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, and cash and cash equivalents do not represent important concentrations of the credit risk. 
Furthermore, the debtors are wide spread among the clients’ categories and their geographic areas. Strict credit control is 
maintained over the credit limits granted to each customer separately and on a continuous basis, and on the provision for the 
un-collected amounts.

All of the Company’s investments are classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The risk of investment in shares relates to the change in the value of the financial instrument as a result of the changes in the 
closing prices of shares.

The change in the financial market index, whereby the above securities are traded as of the consolidated financial statements 
date, represents a 5% increase or 5% decrease. The following is the impact of the change on the Company’s owners’ equity.

2019 2018

JD JD

5% Increase 8,400 8,597

5% (Decrease) (8,400) (8,400)

d.	Market Risk
Market risk is the loss in value resulting from the change in market prices such as interest rate, foreign currency exchange rate, 
and equity instruments prices, and consequently, the change in the fair value of the financial instruments cash flows on-and 
off-the consolidated statement of financial position.

1. Currency Risk
The Company’s major transactions are in Jordanian Dinar, US Dollar, and Euro. 

Currency risk relates to the changes in the prices of currencies in connection with foreign currency payments.  As the Jordanian 
Dinar (the functional currency of the Company) is pegged to the US Dollar, the Company’s management believes that the foreign 
currency risk is immaterial.

The sensitivity analysis is determined below according to exposure to the Euro currency at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements. The analysis was prepared on the assumption that the amount of the existing commitment at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements was in place throughout the year, and an increase or decrease of half a percentage point 0/5%, 
which represents the Company’s management’s value for a possible and acceptable change in market currency rates:

2019 2018

JD JD

0.5% Increase 51,267 47,389

0.5% (Decrease) (51,267) (47,389)
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2. Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of change in the value of the financial instrument due to changes in market interest rates.

Moreover, the Company continuously manages its exposure to interest rate risk and considers the various scenarios such as 
refinancing, renewal of the present positions, and alternative financing.

The below-mentioned sensitivity analysis is determined according to the exposure to interest rate risk related to the lending 
banks as of the consolidated financial statements date. Moreover, the analysis has been prepared assuming that the liability 
amount at the consolidated financial statements date was outstanding during the whole year.  An increase or decrease of half 
a percentage point (0.5%) is used, representing the evaluation of the Company’s management of the potential and acceptable 
change at market interest rates:

2019 2018

JD JD

0.5% Increase 244,931 285,657

0.5% Decrease (244,931) (285,657)

34. The Company’s Future Plan
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the group incurred a net loss of around JD 65.1 million dinars, net pre-tax losses of 48.7 
million dinars, had net current liabilities of JD 88 million, and the net cash used in operating activities amounted to around JD 5.3 
million for the year then ended. The company also failed to pay some of its outstanding financial obligations as of December 31, 
2019. In addition, the accumulated losses including the loss for the year amounted to about JD 135.7 million, which represents 
225% of the paid-up capital of the Company. Article (266) of the companies law as amended by law No. (40) for the year 2002 
states that “should the company’s losses exceed 75% of its capital, the company shall be liquidate unless the General Assembly 
decides in its extraordinary meeting to increase the company’s capital to deal with the losses or redeem the losses in accordance 
with the international accounting and auditing standards, provided that the total remaining losses do not exceed half of the 
company’s capital in both cases. 

The management plan to address the current situation is as follows:

Financial Insolvency
In light of the Company’s current financial conditions, the need to find future solutions to financial difficulties, and the existence 
of a law that simulates the concept of rescuing viable projects, provides legal protection for the economic activity or insolvent 
debtor, and renders the possibility of reorganization and / or restructuring, the Board of Directors of the Jordan Cement Factories 
Company – Lafarge decided to apply for insolvency declaration according to the Jordanian Insolvency Law No. (21) of 2018, in 
order to restructure the Company’s capital and operations, and to maintain the continuity of its business in the future.

The Company’s accumulated losses exceeded its registered capital by more than 75% as at the end of the year 2019, which 
constitutes one of the reasons / conditions for compulsory liquidation according to the Jordanian Companies Law. Submitting 
an insolvency declaration is a necessary step in reorganizing the Company in view of the ongoing burdensome obligations and 
difficult market conditions and its inability to benefit from the fair value of its assets. This measure will allow Lafarge Cement 
Jordan to continue its operations without interruption, while focusing on the reorganization phase, which may extend to two years. 
Meanwhile, Jordan Lafarge Cement remains fully committed to supporting its customers, partners, suppliers, and shareholders, 
as well as its employees and local communities.

Comprehensive legal advice has been provided to the Company, confirming that due to the Company’s inability to fulfill its 
future obligations based on its expected future cash flows (and the absence of confirmed financial support from the major 
shareholders), the Company is obligated to submit an official insolvency declaration request as stipulated in the Jordanian 
Insolvency Law. This requires the court’s approval within 30 days of the application date. In this regard, it is important to submit 
a comprehensive legal petition / statement of claim, to allow the competent court to study and accept the petition in order to 
formally declare insolvency.
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If the insolvency request is accepted, the Company will prepare plans for reorganization / restructuring, to be agreed with the 

expected General Body of Creditors under the supervision of the expected insolvency practitioner and the competent court. 

It is not easy and impractical to predict the results of this stage, but the Company’s Board of Directors and management will 

reasonably endeavor to achieve satisfactory restructuring and / or reorganization of the Company.

The following are some of the main plans that the Company intends to make during the reorganization phase:

1.	 Reducing fixed and variable operating costs:

•	 Continuing the process of restructuring human resources by reducing the number of employees to suit the Company’s size of 

work and operational capacity.

•	 Continuing to reduce the number of environmental lawsuits filed against the Company or to challenge them.

•	 Reducing industrial costs: Reducing the numbers of daily workers and contractors, re-negotiating with suppliers about the 

purchase prices of raw materials, reviewing the contracts signed with them, and reducing maintenance expenses.

•	 Introducing additional amendments to the coverages and ceilings granted to working and retired employees and their families 

who benefit from the health insurance system, with the intention of reducing health insurance costs for the Company.

2.	 Providing the necessary cash flows by selling unutilized assets, whether plots of land or machinery in the various sites and 

factories of the Company.

3.	 Scheduling bank loans. The Company has been scheduling the bank facilities granted to it, rescheduling some of them, 

and postponing due payments, in addition to renegotiating the terms of soft payment and reducing interest rates and 

commissions.

4.	 Studying the possibility of capitalizing the debts owed by the Company, by negotiating with creditors according to the 

procedures stipulated in the Companies Law and other relevant legislation.

5.	 Discussing the possibility of reducing a portion of the debts owed by the Company through negotiating and reaching financial 

settlements with creditors.

6.	 Studying the options for capitalizing the partners’ loans as part of the Company’s capital restructuring.

7.	 Finding appropriate solutions and alternatives to re-evaluate the Company’s assets at a fair market value, especially land.

8. 	 Re-zoning the Company’s plots of land in the Fuheis area to reflect their true value in the Company’s financial statements, 

as well as continuing the development of those plots of land and using them in a way that helps to improve the financial and 

cash situation of the Company through economic projects and infrastructure that positively affect the Jordanian economy and 

serve the local community.

9. 	 Amending the Articles of Association, policies, and administrative procedures in order to restructure the factories and / or 

various departments and / or operational departments, and the administrative costs of the Company to suit its size and the 

economic activity it undertakes.

10.	Trying to find a strategic partner for the purpose of providing the necessary financing.

The Company’s Executive Management and Board of Directors endeavor to continue and maintain the Company’s business. 

From this standpoint, the Company’s Board of Directors deems it necessary to take decisions that ensure the continuity of the 

Company’s business and its re-launch, so that it can become an active and productive Company once again within the national 

economic system. However, the Company’s viability is highly dependent on its ability to completely restructure itself, achieve 

profitability, and improve its cash flows, so that it can fulfill its obligations after being overburdened with debt as a result of the 

successive losses incurred by the Company during the past years.



5 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAGE  78      LAFARGE CEMENT JORDAN      ANNUAL REPORT      2019

Jointly with its main partners (Lafarge Financier and the Social Security Corporation), the Company was about to finalize a plan to 

restructure its capital in an effort to place itself on the right track. However, the Corona virus pandemic with its significant negative 

impact on the Company’s operations has led the main partner (Lafarge Financier) to express its unwillingness to participate in 

the Company’s capital restructuring plan in light of the Company’s inability to contain and reduce its expenses and / or future 

obligations related to its employees, retirees, and creditors, in general. This presented the Company with a difficult choice as 

regards its continuity and obligated it to apply for the declaration of its insolvency in order to enable it to reorganize itself, in 

accordance with the procedures and within the mechanisms permitted by the relevant legislation in force. As such, the aforesaid 

will contribute to its recovery and rescue it from the insolvency it has suffered.

Based on the foregoing, we would like to emphasize that the Company faces severe, current, and / or imminent financial 

difficulties, and that it is incapable  and unable and / or is not expected to be able to pay all of its obligations, whether due or will 

become due in the near future. This necessitates its reorganization according to the procedures and conditions stipulated in the 

Insolvency Law No. (21) of 2018.

Insolvency Proceedings

1. The introductory stage:
•	 It starts from the date of the court’s decision to declare insolvency.

•	 It is devoted to determining the insolvency indebtedness, identifying the debtor’s creditors, collecting information related to the 

debtor’s business, as well as classifying and analyzing information related to the debtor’s business.

•	 Its goal is to identify the causes of insolvency and to determine the viability of the debtor’s business.

2. The reorganization stage:
•	 It starts right after the introductory stage.

•	 Its goal is to reach an agreement between the debtor and creditors on the reorganization plan, through which the concept of 

rescue is realized. During this stage, a reorganization plan is proposed by the debtor, insolvency practitioner, or a group of 

creditors, and all of this is done in agreement with the General Body of Creditors.

•	 The most important characteristic of this stage is the provision of legal protection for the economic activity or the insolvent 

debtor, such as: stopping the filing of claims against him, suspending  execution on his money, whether before or after the 

declaration of insolvency, banning the seizure of his money or even imprisoning him to fulfill any debt, including the debts owed 

to the treasury, ceasing the calculation of interest and fines due on insolvency debts, and discontinuing work or terminating 

contracts under implementation. This stage also includes requesting the termination of sales contracts prior to the insolvency 

declaration (if possible), handling matters related to the lease contract, granting the debtor the right to terminate or continue 

to implement the lease contract,  amending or terminating employment contracts as necessary by submitting an application to 

the court that includes amending or terminating employment contracts, Article (31) of the Law, not implementing the actions 

that the debtor performed during the year preceding the declaration of insolvency, if they  cause harm to the insolvency 

indebtedness, and others.

3. Liquidation stage:
•	 This stage begins if reorganization is impossible - the debtor’s business is not viable, the reorganization plan is not approved, 

or the plan is not implemented after approval.
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35. Subsequent Events
Subsequent to the date of the financial statements, the presence of Corona Virus (Covid-19) was confirmed during January 

2020, which later spread to many countries around the world. On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization declared this 

event a global pandemic. This epidemic is expected to have many economic impacts during the year 2020 on all economic 

sectors. The management believes that this event is one of the subsequent events that does not require amendments to the 

financial statements included in the report and therefore has not made any changes to the consolidated financial statements.

The management has taken into account these unique circumstances and has studied the risks of exposures to the company 

and has also assessed the expected impacts on the company’s operations and activities in order to review and evaluate the 

potential risks arising from this event. The outcome of this event is unknown, and therefore the management cannot reasonably 

determine the impact on the company as of the date of these consolidated financial statements (Note 34).

36. Fair Value Hierarchy

a. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Continuously Determined at Fair Value 
Some of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company are presented at fair value at the end of each financial period. 

The following table provides information about the methods used to determine the fair value of the financial assets and financial 

liabilities (Valuation Methods and Inputs Used):

Fair Value

December 31,

Financial Assets / Liabilities 2019 2018
Fair 

Value
 Level

Evaluation 
Method

and Inputs 
Used

Significant
 Intangible 

Inputs

Relation between 
Significant 

Intangible Inputs 
and Fair Value

JD JD

Financial assets at fair value through 

comprehensive income:

Shares with available market prices 167,994 171,949
First

Level

Listed prices 

in financial 

markets
N/A N/A

Total Financial Assets at Fair Value 167,994 171,949

There are no transfers between the first and second level during the year ended December 31, 2019 and for the year ended 

December 31, 2018.
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